
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
 
 

Tuesday, 2nd April, 2013 
7.00 pm 
 
Committee Room Two 
Town Hall 
Redditch 

Public Document Pack



 
 

Access to Information - Your Rights 
 

The Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 
1985 widened the rights of 
press and public to attend 
Local Authority meetings 
and to see certain 
documents.  Recently the 
Freedom of Information Act 
2000, has further broadened 
these rights, and limited 
exemptions under the 1985 
Act. 

Your main rights are set out 
below:- 

• Automatic right to attend 
all Council and 
Committee meetings 
unless the business 
would disclose 
confidential or “exempt” 
information. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
agenda and public reports 
at least five days before 
the date of the meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
minutes of the Council 
and its Committees (or 
summaries of business  

 

undertaken in private) for 
up to six years following a 
meeting. 

• Automatic right to inspect 
lists of background 
papers used in the 
preparation of public 
reports. 

• Access, upon request, to 
the background papers 
on which reports are 
based for a period of up 
to four years from the 
date of the meeting. 

• Access to a public 
register stating the names 
and addresses and 
electoral areas of all 
Councillors with details of 
the membership of all 
Committees etc. 

• A reasonable number of 
copies of agenda and 
reports relating to items to 
be considered in public 
must be made available 
to the public attending 
meetings of the Council 
and its Committees etc. 

• Access to a list specifying 
those powers which the 
Council has delegated to its 
Officers indicating also the 
titles of the Officers 
concerned. 

• Access to a summary of the 
rights of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council and 
its Committees etc. and to 
inspect and copy 
documents. 

• In addition, the public now 
has a right to be present 
when the Council 
determines “Key Decisions” 
unless the business would 
disclose confidential or 
“exempt” information. 

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
items of business before the 
Executive Committee are 
Key Decisions.  

• (Copies of Agenda Lists are 
published in advance of the 
meetings on the Council’s 
Website: 
www.redditchbc.gov.uk 

 
If you have any queries on this Agenda or any of the decisions taken or wish to 

exercise any of the above rights of access to information, please contact 
Jess Bayley and Michael Craggs 

Democratic Services Officers 
 

Town Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 
Tel: 01527 64252 (Ext. 3268 / 3267) Fax: (01527) 65216 
e.mail: jess.bayley@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk / 

michael.craggs@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk   
Minicom: 595528 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Welcome to today’s meeting. 

Guidance for the Public 
 
 
Agenda Papers 

The Agenda List at the front 
of the Agenda summarises 
the issues to be discussed 
and is followed by the 
Officers’ full supporting 
Reports. 
 
Chair 

The Chair is responsible for 
the proper conduct of the 
meeting. Generally to one 
side of the Chair is the 
Committee Support Officer 
who gives advice on the 
proper conduct of the 
meeting and ensures that 
the debate and the 
decisions are properly 
recorded.  On the Chair’s 
other side are the relevant 
Council Officers.  The 
Councillors (“Members”) of 
the Committee occupy the 
remaining seats around the 
table. 
 
Running Order 

Items will normally be taken 
in the order printed but, in 
particular circumstances, the 
Chair may agree to vary the 
order. 
 
Refreshments : tea, coffee 
and water are normally 
available at meetings - 
please serve yourself. 
 

 
Decisions 

Decisions at the meeting will 
be taken by the Councillors 
who are the democratically 
elected representatives. 
They are advised by 
Officers who are paid 
professionals and do not 
have a vote. 
 
Members of the Public 

Members of the public may, 
by prior arrangement, speak 
at meetings of the Council or 
its Committees.  Specific 
procedures exist for Appeals 
Hearings or for meetings 
involving Licence or 
Planning Applications.  For 
further information on this 
point, please speak to the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Special Arrangements 

If you have any particular 
needs, please contact the 
Committee Support Officer. 
 
Infra-red devices for the 
hearing impaired are 
available on request at the 
meeting. Other facilities may 
require prior arrangement. 
 
Further Information 

If you require any further 
information, please contact 
the Committee Support 
Officer (see foot of page 
opposite). 

Fire/ Emergency  
instructions 
 
If the alarm is sounded, 
please leave the building 
by the nearest available 
exit – these are clearly 
indicated within all the 
Committee Rooms. 
 
If you discover a fire, 
inform a member of staff 
or operate the nearest 
alarm call point (wall 
mounted red rectangular 
box).  In the event of the 
fire alarm sounding, leave 
the building immediately 
following the fire exit 
signs.  Officers have been 
appointed with 
responsibility to ensure 
that all visitors are 
escorted from the 
building. 
 
Do Not stop to collect 
personal belongings. 
 
Do Not use lifts. 
 
Do Not re-enter the 
building until told to do 
so.  
 
The emergency 
Assembly Area is on 
Walter Stranz Square. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
Overview And 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

 

 

2nd April 2013 

7.00 pm 

Committee Room Two 

 

Agenda Membership: 

 Cllrs: Juliet Brunner 
(Chair) 
Simon Chalk (Vice-
Chair) 
Andrew Brazier 
David Bush 
John Fisher 
 

Andrew Fry 
Pattie Hill 
Gay Hopkins 
Pat Witherspoon 
 

1. Apologies and named 
substitutes  

To receive apologies for absence and details of any 
Councillor (or co-optee substitute) nominated to attend this 
meeting in place of a member of this Committee. 
 
  

2. Declarations of interest 
and of Party Whip  

To invite Councillors to declare any interest they may have in 
items on the Agenda and any Party Whip. 
 
  

3. Minutes  

(Pages 1 - 16)  

To confirm the minutes of the most recent meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee as a correct record. 
 

(Minutes attached) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

4. Arts and Culture Centre 
Task Group - Final 
Report  

(Pages 17 - 82)  

Councillor Gay Hopkins 

To consider the Arts and Culture Centre Task Group’s final 
report and to determine whether to forward the group’s 
recommendations for the consideration of the Executive 
Committee. 
 
(Report attached, presentation to follow). 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

5. Access for Disabled 
People Task Group - 
Monitoring Update 
Report  

J Staniland, Exec Director - 
Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing 
Services 

To consider a monitoring update report on action that has 
been taken to implement recommendations made by the 
Access for Disabled People Task Group in August 2012. 
 
(Report to follow) 
 
(Abbey Ward);  



 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

 

 

2nd April 2013 
 

6. Living Wage - Outline 
Report  

Jayne Pickering, Exec 
Director (Finance and 
Corporate Resources) 

To consider further information about the living wage and the 
implications for staff employed by Redditch Borough Council.  
 
Members are asked to consider what further scrutiny work, if 
any, is required on this subject following consideration of the 
report. 
 
(Report to follow). 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

7. West Midlands Regional 
Scrutiny Network - 
Update Report  

Councillor Pat Witherspoon 

To receive an update on the outcomes of the latest meeting 
of the West Midlands Regional Scrutiny Network. 
 
(Oral report). 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

8. Executive Committee 
Minutes and Scrutiny of 
the Forward Plan  

(Pages 83 - 96)  

To consider the minutes of the latest meeting(s) of the 
Executive Committee and also to consider whether any items 
on the Forward Plan are suitable for scrutiny. 

(Minutes attached). 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

9. Actions List  

(Pages 97 - 98)  

To note the contents of the Overview and Scrutiny Actions 
List. 

  
(Report attached) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

10. Task Group Reviews - 
Draft Scoping 
Documents  

(Pages 99 - 108)  

To consider a proposal to participate in a joint scrutiny review 
of Worcestershire Regulatory Services, received from 
Wychavon District Council 

 

(Report attached) 

 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  



 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

 

 

2nd April 2013 
 

11. Task Groups - Progress 
Reports  

To consider progress to date on the current reviews against 
the terms set by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The current reviews in progress are: 

 
a) Arts and Culture Centre – Chair, Councillor Gay 

Hopkins; and 
 

b) Housing Density – Chair, Councillor David Bush.  
 
 (Oral reports) 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

12. Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

Councillor Pat Witherspoon 

To receive a verbal update on the recent work of the 
Worcestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
(Verbal report) 
 
  

13. Referrals  To consider any referrals to the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee direct, or arising from: 

• The Executive Committee or full Council 

• Other sources. 
 

(No separate report). 

 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

14. Work Programme  

(Pages 109 - 112)  

To consider the Committee’s current Work Programme, and 
potential items for addition to the list arising from: 

• The Forward Plan / Committee agendas 

• External publications 

• Other sources. 

(Report attached) 

 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  



 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

 

 

2nd April 2013 
 

15. Exclusion of the Press 
and Public  

Should it be necessary, in the opinion of the Borough 
Director, during the course of the meeting to consider 
excluding the public from the meeting on the grounds that 
exempt information is likely to be divulged, it may be 
necessary to move the following resolution: 

“That, under S.100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following matter(s) on the grounds that it/they involve(s) the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
relevant paragraphs (to be specified) of Part 1 of Schedule 
12 (A) of the said Act”. 
 
These paragraphs are as follows: 

Subject to the “public interest” test, information relating to: 

•         Para 1 – any individual; 

•         Para 2 – the identity of any individual; 

•         Para 3 – financial or business affairs; 

•         Para 4 – labour relations matters; 

•         Para 5 – legal professional privilege; 

•         Para 6 –  a notice, order or direction; 

•         Para 7 – the prevention, investigation or  

                     prosecution of crime; 

                     and may need to be considered as ‘exempt’.  

 
 
(No Specific Ward Relevance);  

  

 
 



 
 

 

Overview 
and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

  

 

Tuesday, 5th March, 2013 

 

 

 Chair 
 

 

 

MINUTES Present: 
  

Councillor Juliet Brunner (Chair), Councillor Simon Chalk (Vice-Chair) 
and Councillors Joe Baker, David Bush, John Fisher, Andrew Fry, 
Pattie Hill, Gay Hopkins and Joe Baker 
 

 Officers: 
 

 G Lavery, H Mole, D Poole, S Singleton and J Staniland 
 

 Democratic Services Officers: 
 

 J Bayley and M Craggs 
 
 

151. APOLOGIES AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors 
Brazier and Witherspoon.  Councillor Baker was confirmed as the 
substitute for Councillor Witherspoon. 
 

152. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND OF PARTY WHIP  
 
There were no declarations of interest nor of any party whip. 
 

153. MINUTES  
 
Members were advised that the recommendations from the Market 
Scrutiny Task Group, which had been discussed at the previous 
meeting of the Committee, were due to be considered by the 
Executive Committee on 12th March. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Tuesday 5th February be approved as a 
true and correct record of the meeting and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 5th March, 2013 

 
 

154. TRANSFORMATION BRIEFING  
 
The Committee received a presentation on the subject of systems 
thinking and transformation (Appendix 1). 
 
A couple of Councillors had attended transformation orientation 
sessions.  These sessions provided participants with an opportunity 
to check current services as well as to listen to customer demands 
as they were reported to frontline services.  The feedback received 
from these Councillors had been generally positive. These 
Members suggested that transformation should be regarded as an 
evidence-based, practical approach to improving services.   
 
The potential impact of service transformation on staff morale was 
debated.  On the one hand Members noted that the improvements 
that could be made to service delivery from a customer’s 
perspective could lead to an increase in customer satisfaction.  
Positive feedback received from customers in this context might 
have a beneficial impact on staff morale.   
 
On the other hand concerns were expressed that the changes 
required through transformation could be unsettling for staff, as the 
process challenged existing assumptions and required employees 
to adapt working practices.  In many departments transformation 
was being piloted by a small number of members of a team.  
Members suggested that there was a risk that employees who were 
not engaged in pilot transformation processes might feel particularly 
uncertain about the intended outcomes. 
 
Officers had recognised the potential impact that service 
transformation might have on staff.  From the start of the process, 
therefore, attempts had been made to engage with and to inform 
staff about systems thinking and transformation.  This had included 
arranging for staff to participate in a series of orientation sessions 
as well as the delivery of a number of staff briefings on the subject. 
 
The Committee welcomed the focus on the customer required by 
systems thinking and the potential to improve service performance 
whilst making financial savings in service delivery.  However, 
Members noted that it would not be possible for Councillors to 
appreciate the full implications of the systems thinking process 
without observing service transformation in practice. 
 
To address this concern it was suggested that members of the 
Committee and other elected Councillors should have an 
opportunity to participate in transformation orientation sessions and 

Page 2



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 5th March, 2013 

 
to meet with relevant Officers in order to learn more about 
transformation and systems thinking.  Knowledge of transformation 
amongst Councillors was considered to be increasingly important 
as this would enable Members to make informed decisions about 
any proposed future changes to service delivery. 
 
The Committee commented that whilst the majority of Council 
services were in the process of going through transformation, there 
were a number of key services that had been using the systems 
thinking approach to reviewing service delivery for a significant 
amount of time.  Members agreed that these services should be the 
focus of further scrutiny by the Committee in the first instance. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) Officers consult with members of the Committee regarding 

their availability to participate in Transformation Orientation 
Sessions; 

 
2) a list of services that have been going through 

transformation for some time be circulated for Members’ 
consideration to enable Members to identify areas suitable 
for further scrutiny; and 

 

3) the report be noted. 
 

155. REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL BUSINESS CENTRES  
 
The Committee considered a report on the subject of vacant units in 
the Council’s Business Centres.  This report had been requested by 
Members at a meeting of the Committee on 11th December 2012 
following consideration of the Quarter 2 Finance Monitoring Report 
which had recorded a lower than expected income for this service. 
 
Members were advised that the Council managed three Business 
Centres: the Greenlands Business Centre; the Rubicon Business 
Centre; and the Hemming Road Enterprise Centre.  The Council 
offered attractive license fees and terms which were regularly 
advertised, though a large proportion of business was generated 
through personal recommendations.   
 
The financial costs involved in managing the centres had been 
influenced by two principal factors.  Firstly, many of the business 
centres were approximately 20 years old and required continuous 
repair and maintenance work which was delivered at a financial 
cost to the Council.  Secondly, Members were advised that the 

Page 3



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 5th March, 2013 

 
threshold on which vacant commercial properties were exempt from 
paying business rates had been lowered in April 2011 from £18,000 
to £2,600 rateable value. The Council was therefore paying 
business rates for some vacant units that would have been exempt 
in previous years. 
 
Members noted that the Rubicon Business Centre was leased from 
a private landlord.  The centre had been leased as premises which 
had been converted into separate units.  The Council would be 
required to convert the property back to the state in which it had 
originally been leased if this arrangement was not renewed.  
Officers had estimated in 2010 that it would cost approximately 
£100,000 to convert the property. 
 
There were a number of competitor business centres in Redditch 
and the surrounding area.  A number of these competitors managed 
modern buildings.  However, whilst the Council run business 
Centres were not based in modern premises there were a number 
of customers who remained satisfied and had leased units over a 
series of years.  The units also provided useful bases in which local 
entrepreneurs could launch new businesses. 
 
Members welcomed reports that occupancy rates at all of the 
centres had increased between 2009/10 and 2012/13.  In particular, 
Members were pleased to learn that occupancy levels at the 
Greenlands Business Centre had increased from 41.11 per cent to 
80.51 per cent during this period.   
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the report be noted. 
 

156. DRAFT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL 
REPORT 2012/13  
 
The Committee considered the draft content of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Annual Report for 2012/13.  Members noted that the Chair 
of the Committee would be invited to present the report for 
Members’ consideration at a meeting of Council on 25th March 
2013. 
 
Members requested that the following matters should be added to 
the report: 
 
• Information about the Promoting Sporting Participation Task 

Group Review, which was completed in May 2012. 

• A picture of the Increasing Rates of Recycling Task Group. 

Page 4



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 5th March, 2013 

 
• A number of monitoring update reports had been received by 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee during the year.  Out of 
courtesy Members agreed that the membership of the Task 
Groups which had completed the original reviews should be 
recorded in this section. 

• Active performance scrutiny should be recorded as an important 
element for the Committee to address in future years. 
 

• A targeted approach to scrutiny and focused forward planning 
should be recorded as objectives for improving scrutiny at the 
Council. 

 
• A commitment to Member Development in Overview and 

Scrutiny should be incorporated into the report. 

• Additional emphasis on senior Officers’ attendance at meetings 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
Members concluded that Overview and Scrutiny should continue to 
be regarded as an important part of the democratic process at 
Redditch Borough Council. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
subject to the amendments detailed in the preamble above, the 
report be noted. 
 

157. ACTIONS LIST  
 
As requested at the previous meeting of the Committee Officers 
were in the process of investigating the financial costs involved in 
completing a Task Group review.  Members were advised that it 
was likely that this investigation would take some time as the costs 
would vary according to the length and subject of the review. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Actions List be noted. 
 

158. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MINUTES AND SCRUTINY OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE'S WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Officers were asked to note that for the minutes of the Executive 
Committee on 18th February 2013 a number of Members who had 
attended the meeting had been recorded twice under the categories 
of ‘Present’ and ‘Also Present’. 

Page 5



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 5th March, 2013 

 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meetings of the Executive Committee held 
on Tuesday 12th March and Monday 18th February and the 
latest edition of the Executive Committee Work Programme be 
noted. 
 

159. TASK & FINISH REVIEWS - DRAFT SCOPING DOCUMENTS  
 
There were no draft scoping documents. 
 

160. TASK AND FINISH GROUPS - PROGRESS REPORTS  
 
The Committee received the following reports in relation to current 
reviews: 
 
a) Arts and Culture Centre Task Group – Chair, Councillor Gay 

Hopkins 
 

Members were advised that the group had agreed a number of 
recommendations and a draft report was in the process of being 
produced. 

 
b) Housing Density – Chair, Councillor David Bush 

 
The Committee was informed that no meetings of the group had 
taken place, as it had not been possible to identify a date when 
Members and relevant Officers would both be available in 
February.  Two meetings were, however, scheduled to take 
place on 20th March and 27th March 2013. 

 
RESOLVED that 
 
the update reports be noted. 
 

161. HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
There were no updates from the Worcestershire Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC). 
 

162. REFERRALS  
 
There were no referrals. 
 
 
 

Page 6



   

OverviewOverviewOverviewOverview    andandandand    
ScrutinyScrutinyScrutinyScrutiny    
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 5th March, 2013 

 
163. WORK PROGRAMME  

 
RESOLVED that 
 
the Committee’s Work Programme be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 8.05 pm 

Page 7



Page 8



O
ve

rv
ie

w
 &

 S
cr

ut
in

y
5t

h
M

ar
ch

 2
01

3

�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�	



�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

�
�
�

Page 9



�
�
��
��
�
��
��
	�

	
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��

�
��
��
�
	�
�
�	



��
�
�
�
��
��
��
��
	�

�
��



	�
��
�

�
�
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�

S
ys

te
m

s 
th

in
ki

ng
 is

 n
ot

 a
bo

ut
 IT

 s
ys

te
m

s.
 It

 is
 a

n 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 th

at
 s

up
po

rt
s 

th
e

re
vi

ew
 o

f s
er

vi
ce

s 
as

 a
 w

ho
le

 (
no

t f
un

ct
io

ns
)

S
ys

te
m

s 
th

in
ki

ng
is

 a
 v

er
y 

di
ffe

re
nt

ap
pr

oa
ch

 to
 im

pr
ov

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

, i
t 

ch
al

le
ng

es
 th

e
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
 w

e 
m

ak
e 

ab
ou

ts
er

vi
ce

 d
es

ig
n.

U
si

ng
 a

 m
et

ho
d

of
 's

tu
dy

‘, 
sy

st
em

s 
th

in
ki

ng
 re

ve
al

s 
ho

w
 tr

ad
iti

on
al

 
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
 a

re
 r

es
po

ns
ib

le
 fo

ru
nd

er
m

in
in

g 
se

rv
ic

e 
qu

al
ity

, d
riv

in
g 

up
  

co
st

s
an

d 
ca

us
in

g 
lo

w
 m

or
al

e.

S
ys

te
m

s 
th

in
ki

ng
ai

m
s 

to
 c

re
at

e 
be

tte
r s

er
vi

ce
, a

t r
ed

uc
ed

 c
os

t 
w

ith
in

cr
ea

se
d 

ca
pa

ci
ty

an
d

hi
gh

er
 s

ta
ff 

m
or

al
e.

S
ys

te
m

s 
th

in
ki

ng
 is

th
e 

ba
si

s 
fo

r
al

l f
ut

ur
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

re
vi

ew
s 

an
d 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 o

ur
 s

er
vi

ce
s

Page 10



�
�
��
��
�
��
��
	�

	
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
	�
�
��
��
��

�
��
��
�
	�
�
�	



��
�
�
�
��
��
��
��
	�

�
��



	�
��
� 

�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

S
ys

te
m

s 
th

in
ki

ng
 is

 n
ot

 a
 ty

pi
ca

l, 
to

p 
do

w
n 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 to
 p

la
nn

in
g 

ho
w

 a
 

sy
st

em
 o

r 
pr

oc
es

s 
sh

ou
ld

 w
or

k.
 

It 
ta

ke
s 

an
 o

ut
si

de
-in

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
(o

r c
us

to
m

er
s 

vi
ew

) 
to

 im
pr

ov
in

g 
se

rv
ic

e;
 th

at
 

is
 to

 c
ha

ng
e 

th
e 

w
or

k,
 y

ou
 fi

rs
t n

ee
d 

to
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
‘h

ow
 th

e 
w

or
k 

w
or

ks
’ -

ch
an

ge
 is

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
kn

ow
le

dg
e.

It 
is

 v
er

y 
di

ffe
re

nt
 to

 ty
pi

ca
l a

pp
ro

ac
he

s 
fo

r 
im

pr
ov

in
g 

se
rv

ic
es

. T
he

sy
st

em
s 

th
in

ki
ng

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
of

te
n 

re
ve

al
s 

un
ex

pe
ct

ed
re

su
lts

. 

Page 11





�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
� 
�
�
�

 
�
�

�
��
�

T
h

in
ki

n
g

…
.. 

M
an

ag
em

en
t t

hi
nk

in
g 

an
d 

as
su

m
pt

io
ns

 a
bo

ut
 th

e 
w

or
k 

..

…
 d

riv
es

 th
e 

de
si

gn
 o

f o
ur

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
…

w
hi

ch
 in

 tu
rn

 a
ffe

ct
s 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

S
ys

te
m

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

…
.

Page 12



�
�
�
��

�
�
�
��

�
��
	

�
��
	



�



�

�
�
�

�
��
�

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

It 
is

 n
ot

 p
os

si
bl

e 
to

 a
de

qu
at

el
y 

co
nv

ey
 h

er
e 

ho
w

 s
ys

te
m

s 
th

in
ki

ng
 w

or
ks

. 
T

he
 o

nl
y 

w
ay

 to
 r

ea
lly

 u
nd

er
st

an
d 

it'
s 

po
te

nt
ia

l i
s 

to
 u

se
 it

.
It 

is
 u

se
fu

l t
o 

ap
pr

ec
ia

te
th

e 
ba

si
c 

co
nc

ep
t a

nd
 k

ey
 p

ha
se

s 
fo

r
co

nd
uc

tin
g 

a
sy

st
em

s 
th

in
ki

ng
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f a
 s

er
vi

ce
. T

he
y 

ar
e 

as
 fo

llo
w

s:

Page 13



!
�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�"
 
�
�

#
�$
�"
 
�
�
#

Is
co

nc
er

ne
d 

w
ith

 u
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 th

e 
cu

rr
en

t s
er

vi
ce

 a
nd

 it
's

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

. I
t i

s 
cr

uc
ia

l t
ha

t a
ny

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 a

bo
ut

 w
ha

t t
o 

ch
an

ge
 a

re
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

ev
id

en
ce

 a
nd

 
le

ar
ni

ng
 g

ai
ne

d 
du

rin
g 

'C
he

ck
'. 

C
he

ck
in

vo
lv

es
 6

st
ag

es
:

P
u

rp
o

se
-

Id
en

tif
yi

ng
 p

ur
po

se
 o

f t
he

 s
ys

te
m

 fr
om

 th
e 

cu
st

om
er

s 
pe

rs
pe

ct
iv

e
D

em
an

d
-

S
tu

dy
in

g 
de

m
an

d 
e.

g.
'I 

ne
ed

 to
 c

la
im

 b
en

ef
it’

 o
r 

‘I 
ne

ed
 a

 h
om

e'
.

T
hi

s 
he

lp
s 

us
 id

en
tif

y
w

ha
t m

at
te

rs
 to

cu
st

om
er

s.
C

ap
ab

ili
ty

-
M

ea
su

rin
g 

ou
r 

ab
ili

ty
 to

 r
es

po
nd

 to
w

ha
t m

at
te

rs
to

cu
st

om
er

s
F

lo
w

-
Id

en
tif

yi
ng

 h
ow

 th
e

w
or

k 
is

 c
ar

rie
d 

ou
t a

nd
us

in
g 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ab
ou

t w
ha

t 
m

at
te

rs
 to

 c
us

to
m

er
s 

to
 id

en
tif

y 
va

lu
e 

w
or

k 
an

d 
w

as
te

 (
e.

g.
 d

up
lic

at
io

n,
 h

an
do

ffs
).

S
ys

te
m

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s

-T
he

 fa
ct

or
s 

re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

fo
r 

th
e

w
as

te
 in

 th
e 

sy
st

em
.S

ys
te

m
 

co
nd

iti
on

s 
m

ay
 b

e
po

lic
y,

 p
ro

ce
du

re
, I

T
 s

ys
te

m
, t

ra
in

in
g 

et
c

T
h

in
ki

n
g

-
It 

is
 im

po
rt

an
t t

o 
re

la
te

 s
ys

te
m

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 to

 th
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t t

hi
nk

in
g 

re
sp

on
si

bl
e 

fo
r 

th
ei

r 
in

tr
od

uc
tio

n.
 T

hi
s

is
 k

ey
 to

 u
nl

ea
rn

in
g

ol
d 

as
su

m
pt

io
ns

an
d 

to
 

st
ar

t l
oo

ki
ng

 a
t t

hi
ng

s 
di

ffe
re

nt
ly

.

Page 14



�
%�
�
��
�
&
��
�

P
la

n
 –

id
en

ti
fy

 h
o

w
 w

e 
ca

n
 c

h
an

g
e

T
hi

s 
st

ag
e 

ta
ke

s
th

e 
le

ar
ni

ng
 fr

om
C

he
ck

 to
 id

en
tif

y 
a 

ne
w

 s
et

 o
f o

pe
ra

tin
g 

pr
in

ci
pl

es
 a

nd
'c

le
an

 fl
ow

'd
es

ig
ne

d 
to

 d
el

iv
er

 w
ha

t m
at

te
rs

 to
 c

us
to

m
er

s.
 

M
ea

su
re

s
ar

e 
ag

re
ed

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
w

ha
t m

at
te

rs
 a

nd
 e

xp
er

im
en

ts
 d

ev
is

ed
 to

 
pr

ov
e

th
e 

ne
w

 w
ay

 o
f w

or
ki

ng
.

D
o

 –
im

p
le

m
en

t t
h

e 
ch

an
g

es
T

hi
s 

st
ag

e
in

vo
lv

es
 c

on
fir

m
in

g 
th

at
 e

xp
er

im
en

ts
do

ne
 in

th
e 

P
la

n 
ph

as
e 

do
 

in
 fa

ct
su

pp
or

tt
he

 w
or

k 
an

d 
pr

oc
es

se
s 

un
de

rp
in

ni
ng

 th
e

ne
w

 s
er

vi
ce

. I
n 

pr
ac

tic
e 

th
is

 m
ea

ns
 ta

ki
ng

 a
 s

m
al

l n
um

be
r o

f c
us

to
m

er
s

ou
t o

f t
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 
sy

st
em

, t
es

tin
g 

th
e 

ne
w

 w
ay

s 
of

 w
or

ki
ng

,s
ol

vi
ng

 a
ny

 p
ro

bl
em

s
an

d 
ad

ap
tin

g 
th

e 
ne

w
 s

er
vi

ce
 a

lo
ng

 th
e 

w
ay

.A
s 

th
e 

ne
w

 s
er

vi
ce

 e
vo

lv
es

 th
ro

ug
h 

ex
pe

rim
en

ta
tio

n 
so

 d
oe

s
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
ca

pa
ci

ty
, r

ol
es

 a
nd

 s
tr

uc
tu

re
s 

re
qu

ire
d 

to
 s

up
po

rt
th

e
ne

w
 w

ay
 o

f w
or

ki
ng

.

Page 15



�
�
'

�



�
�
�
�(
�
�

�
�
�
�

S
o 

M
em

be
rs

 c
an

 le
ar

n 
m

or
e 

ab
ou

t s
ys

te
m

s 
th

in
ki

ng
.

S
om

e 
su

gg
es

tio
ns

:
•

P
ra

ct
ic

al
 O

rie
nt

at
io

n 
S

es
si

on
s 

–
da

y 
an

d 
ha

lf.
 D

o 
so

m
e 

‘c
he

ck
’

•
In

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 –

vi
si

t. 
Lo

ok
 a

t h
ow

 ‘P
la

n’
 &

 ‘D
o’

 is
 im

pl
em

en
te

d.
•

M
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
at

 n
ex

t O
 &

 S
 o

r 
se

pa
ra

te
 d

at
e 

to
 s

ui
t?

•
W

ha
t w

ou
ld

 M
em

be
rs

 li
ke

 to
 d

o?

Page 16



Arts and
Cultural
Centre
Task Group

Overview 
& Scrutiny

Agenda Item 4Page 17



Page 18



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

 

CONTENTS  
Page Number 

 
Chair’s Foreword          1 
 
Summary of Recommendations       2 
 
Introduction/Background Information      6  
 
Chapter 1   Recommendations that could be Implemented in the      11  
                   Short to Medium Term     
 
Chapter 2:  Recommendations that could be Implemented in the   24 
                   Long Term         
      
Conclusion          37 
 
Appendix 1 - Terms of Reference      38 
 
Appendix 2 - Witnesses        42 
 
Appendix 3 - Timeline of Activities      43 
 
Appendix 4 - Public Consultation Methods     45 
 
Appendix 5 - Arts Activities in Redditch      46 
 
Appendix 6 - Background Papers and Website Sources   62 
 
 
Membership of the Task Group   
Councillors Hopkins (Chair), Baker, Clayton and Witherspoon. 
Mr M Hall (co-opted member, Chair of the Arts in Redditch Network) 
 
Support Officer 
Jess Bayley, Democratic Services Officer, Tel: (01527) 64252 Extn: 3268  
jess.bayley@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  
 
Completed 
April 2013 
 
Contact 
Further copies of this report are available on request from: 
Address: Overview and Scrutiny Team, Democratic Services, Redditch Town 
Hall, Walter Stranz Square, Redditch, B98 8AH 
 
Email: democratic@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk

Page 20



 

  

  - 1 - 

FOREWORD  
  
When I started this review I was absolutely convinced that Redditch needed an 
arts centre.  I hoped that this Task and Finish scrutiny would uphold this view and 
investigate how, where and when we could look to do this very thing.  My 
colleagues, Councillor Brandon Clayton, Councillor Pat Witherspoon and 
Councillor Joe Baker and our co-opted member, Malcolm Hall, were all of the 
same mindset. 
 
The Task and Finish scrutiny has, however, had a life of its own and we have 
followed all the twists and turns of the investigation only to come up with a 
completely different outlook.  This is, of course, what scrutiny is all about; looking 
at all the aspects and facts and then making recommendation in light of our 
findings. 
 
I thoroughly enjoyed the whole experience and commend the hard work that the 
other members of the panel put in.  They were enthusiastic and painstaking in 
their work.  We had interviews with experts who helped us a great deal especially 
John Godwin, Ray Cooke, Jonathan Cochrane, Lyndsey Berry and Ros Sidaway 
and the lovely IT chaps who were well out of our league in all things “web”!  
Mostly we could not have had such a good review without the monstrous 
workload Jess Bayley managed to get through on our behalf.  Amanda Scarce 
also helped to collate much of the information for us.  We did also have a lot of 
help with our questionnaire; Councillor Pattie Hill gave out our forms at B&Q and 
lots of people filled them in at local events. 
 
Lastly, we did enjoy all the visits we made to arts centres elsewhere.  We always 
had loads of help and advice, facts and figures and were shown around by 
friendly advocates of these centres.  Tim Mackrill, the manager at the Palace 
Theatre, was especially helpful and we had a very informative visit there. 
 
We hope the recommendations we have put forward will be considered and 
acted on if at all possible. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Gay Hopkins 
Chair of the Arts and Culture Centre Task Group

Page 21



 

  

  - 2 - 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
Chapter 1 Recommendations that could be implemented in the short to 
medium term. 
 
Recommendation 1 
 
The Arts in Redditch Network, and the benefits to be accrued from 
membership of the network, should be promoted to local arts groups. 
 
Financial Implications: There are no financial implications for either the Council 
or the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
Legal implications:  There are no legal implications, for either the Council or the 
network. 
 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
The Arts in Redditch Network should maintain a list of existing arts groups 
in Redditch on their new website. 
 
a) The Council should continue to maintain a link from the local 

authority’s website to the new Arts in Redditch Network website. 
  
Financial Implications:  There are no financial implications for either the Council 
or the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
Legal implications: There are no legal implications, for either the Council or the 
network. 
 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
An online Redditch Arts Map, including an arts trail, outlining the location 
of public art works and venues in the Borough and linked to an icon on the 
new information kiosks in the town centre, should be introduced. 
 
Financial Implications: There are no immediate financial implications for the 
Council. 
 
There are direct financial implications for the Arts in Redditch Network as it has 
been estimated that it would cost £9,450 to produce the arts map and additional 
maintenance costs.  The group is suggesting that these costs should be met by 
the Arts in Redditch Network through submitting a funding application to an 
organisation that provides grants to the arts. 
 
 

Page 22



 

  

  - 3 - 

 
Information kiosks cost approximately £25,000 to install in an outside location.  
Choose How You Move 2 are intending to fund the introduction of two new 
kiosks, one of which will be installed outside.  The other will be installed in the 
train station. The funding from Choose How You Move will cover the cost of the 
implementation, software and the kiosk as well as maintenance costs.   
 
Legal implications: There are no legal implications, for either the Council or the 
network. 
 
 
Recommendation 4 
 
Art exhibition space, where local artists can display their work, should be 
introduced at the Palace Theatre and the Abbey Stadium. 
 
a) The Arts in Redditch Network should promote opportunities to display 
local artists’ work. 
 
Financial Implications: There are no financial implications for the Council or for 
the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
Legal implications: Redditch Borough Council would need to agree terms and 
conditions with artists when arranging for artwork to be displayed in the Palace 
Theatre and Abbey Stadium.  Members have been advised that this agreement 
could be based on an adapted version of the agreements that the Palace Theatre 
currently makes with arts bodies that hire facilities at the venue. 
 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
The Council should continue to provide support and advice to any 
community group aiming to introduce a new arts group in the town. 
In addition: 
 
a) action should be taken to increase public awareness of the support and 

advice provided by the Council to community groups with an interest in 
the arts; and 

 
b) any new enquiries should be signposted to the Arts in Redditch Network 

to facilitate the formation of new arts groups. 
 
Financial Implications: There are no additional financial implications for the 
Council as Officers already provide support and advice to community groups 
aiming to introduce new arts groups in the town.  There are no financial 
implications for the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
 

Page 23



 

  

  - 4 - 

Legal implications: There are no legal implications, for either the Council or the 
network. 
 
 
 
Recommendation 6 
 
The evidence gathered by Members during the course of the review and the 
information contained in the Arts and Culture Centre Task Group’s final 
report should be taken into account by Officers when producing the new 
Redditch Arts Strategy. 
 
Financial Implications: There are no additional financial implications for the 
Council as the Leisure Services team had already committed to producing a new 
arts strategy for Redditch prior to the launch of the Task Group. 
 
Legal implications: There are no legal implications for the Council. 
 
 
Chapter 2 Recommendations that could be implemented in the long-term 
 
Recommendation 7 
 
In an ideal world an arts centre would be established in Redditch by a 
community group.  However, in order for this objective to be achieved the 
community group needs to be aware of and to address the following 
barriers: 
 
a) the extent to which local arts groups would make use of an arts centre; 
b) the financial costs involved in establishing and maintaining an arts 

centre; 
c) funding application requirements; 
d) creating a sustainable business case; 
e) legal liability and accountability issues; 
f) availability of volunteers to operate the centre; and 
g) management arrangements for the centre. 
 
Financial Implications: There are no financial implications for the Council.  The 
financial implications of establishing an arts centre for a community group have 
been detailed in the report for interested stakeholders to note. 
 
Legal Implications: There are no legal implications for the Council.  The legal 
implications of establishing an arts centre for a community group have been 
detailed in the report for interested stakeholders to note. 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

  

  - 5 - 

Recommendation 8 
 
The Council should provide the following support and advice to any 
community organisation that aims to establish an arts and culture centre in 
the town: 

 
a) guidance on how to complete funding applications for grants;  
b) advice on how to produce a business case; and  
c) signpost groups to relevant expert contacts for further specialist help. 
 
Financial Implications: There would be a financial cost to the Council.  
Specifically this financial cost would need to cover Officer time involved in 
providing the support to a community organisation aiming to establish an arts and 
culture centre in Redditch. 
 
Legal implications: There are no legal implications for the Council. 
 
 
 
Recommendation 9 
 
The ‘Creative Redditch’ artwork should be prioritised for use on the next 
bus shelter that is installed in Redditch town centre. 

 
Financial Implications: There would be financial implications for either Redditch 
Borough Council or the North Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership.  A 
new bus shelter, involving a number of reinforced panels in a steel frame can cost 
£2,000 – 4,000. 
  
However, the group is proposing that funding should not be invested in this 
project until a future date when appropriate budgets are available or a bus shelter 
in the town centre requires refurbishment work. 
 
Legal implications: There are no legal implications for either the Council or the 
North Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership. 
 

Page 25



 

  

  - 6 - 

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
A review of the potential to introduce an arts and culture centre in Redditch was 
first proposed during an Overview and Scrutiny training session at Redditch 
Borough Council in May 2012.  Elected Members later concluded that the subject 
would be a suitable topic for thorough scrutiny, though it was agreed that the 
exercise would not be launched until the autumn. 
 
The main focus of the review from the start was to determine whether it would be 
feasible to introduce an arts and culture centre in the Borough.  In order to 
complete this task the group gathered evidence from a variety of sources: 
 
Interviews with representatives of the local arts partnership  
 
During the course of the review the group discovered that there was an 
independent body responsible for promoting and supporting the arts in Redditch. 
This body had been formed following the merger in March 2012 of two 
independent groups representing the arts in Redditch: the AiR (Arts in Redditch) 
Partnership and the Campaign for a Redditch Arts Centre.  The merger took 
place to ensure that there was a single body responsible for supporting and 
promoting the arts in Redditch.  The combined body was renamed the Arts in 
Redditch Network in March 2013.  Whilst a representative of Redditch Borough 
Council is a member of the Arts in Redditch Network the partnership is entirely 
independent from the Council. 
 
The merged body had committed to campaigning for the introduction of an arts 
centre alongside continuing to promote and support existing arts activities in the 
town.  A representative of the body was interviewed in October 2012 to enable 
the group to learn about the objectives of the merged network, work that had 
already been undertaken to progress the introduction of an arts centre in the 
town, and the barriers that would impact on the successful completion of the 
project. 
 
The group was advised that 250 people had signed up to the campaign for a 
Redditch arts centre by October 2012.  Individuals campaigning for an arts centre 
had considered various buildings that could potentially be used as the base for 
an arts centre, though had not agreed a final location.  Efforts were also being 
made by campaigners to raise funding that could be used to pay for an arts 
centre and it was anticipated that further fundraising events would take place in 
future years.  
 
Members have been advised that the Arts in Redditch Network is considering 
applying for charitable status in the new financial year.  It is likely that the body 
will become a Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO).  Securing charitable 
status is a commitment in the partnership’s constitution which states that the 
partnership will attempt “to pursue charitable status at the earliest possible 
opportunity”.  Charitable status could also have a positive impact on the 
partnership’s ability to achieve their objective to establish an arts centre in 

Page 26



 

  

  - 7 - 

Redditch, particularly in relation to the financial costs involved in establishing a 
centre. 
 
Interviews with representatives of the Redditch Town Centre Partnership 
 
The Redditch Town Centre Partnership included the concept of a community arts 
centre in the town as a key initiative in the second round of Mary Portas Pilot 
Town bid proposals that were submitted in June 2012.  In order to learn about 
these proposals, and the implications for the introduction of an arts and culture 
centre in the town, representatives of the partnership were interviewed by the 
group. 
 
Members were advised that the introduction of a community arts centre would 
have formed one of five key initiatives designed to regenerate Redditch town 
centre.  A community arts centre would have been introduced in one of the larger 
empty units in the town centre on a temporary basis until a permanent home 
could have been found.  This arrangement would have required a meanwhile use 
agreement with a landlord, whereby a property is occupied for a temporary period 
until the occupants can find a permanent base or the landlord can attract a 
permanent tenant.   
 
The partnership was intending to provide rehearsal rooms, performance space, 
exhibition space and a venue where smaller concerts and performances could 
take place.  Ultimately, the partnership had been aiming to create “a unified arts 
community embracing all art forms”. 
 
Unfortunately, the partnership was not awarded Mary Portas Pilot Town funding.  
However, the group has been advised that the partnership would be supportive of 
future attempts to establish an arts and culture centre in Redditch town centre. 
 
Interviews with Council Officers 
 
The group consulted with representatives of the Council’s Leisure Services 
department during the course of the review.  This enabled Members to clarify the 
existing level of support provided by the Council to the arts in Redditch.  The 
Officers also had relevant expertise in relation to managing existing arts venues, 
networking with representatives of the arts and applying for funding applications 
from grant giving bodies.     
 
Members learned that additional resources had been invested in the Arts and 
Events team as part of the shared services arrangements for Leisure Services 
negotiated between Redditch Borough Council and Bromsgrove District Council 
in 2011.  This team has been tasked with supporting arts development in the 
town, rather than with delivering arts activities, an arrangement which is 
comparable to other local authority arts departments in the country.  The Council 
also manages an existing portfolio of arts and cultural venues in the town, 
including Redditch Palace Theatre and Forge Mill Needle Museum. 
 

Page 27



 

  

  - 8 - 

Visits to arts venues in the Borough 
 
The group agreed that it was important for Members to visit a number of arts 
venues in Redditch in order to understand the position of the arts locally at this 
time.  As part of this process Members visited the Old Needle Works Craft 
Centre, located on Britten Street in Redditch, and Redditch Palace Theatre. 
 
The Old Needle Works Craft Centre was visited because Members were keen to 
view a venue that was operating independently from the Council.  The centre is 
managed by volunteers, though provides local artists and crafts people with a 
base in which to establish a business where their products can be sold to visitors.  
There are opportunities for residents to participate in various arts and craft 
workshop activities at the centre.  In addition, the Inkberrow Design Centre (IDC), 
a leading fashion and design centre with a base in the Old Needle Works, 
provides opportunities to gain professional City and Guilds qualifications in 
relevant disciplines. 
 
A tour of the Palace Theatre took place in January 2012.  During this tour 
Members were informed about changes that had been made to the programme 
at the theatre, designed to attract a more diverse audience than in previous 
years.  The group was advised that the theatre had been refurbished in 2005/06 
at a cost of £3.4 million.  Redditch Borough Council had contributed £2.9 million 
from capital funding and £500,000 had been provided by the Heritage Lottery 
Fund.  Following the refurbishment works additional adaptations had been made 
to the interior of the theatre in order to maximise the use of space available on 
the premises.     
 
Members welcomed actions that were being taken to reduce the deficit involved 
in running the theatre.  Indeed, Members were advised that, whilst the majority of 
community theatres operated at a financial loss, figures for Redditch Palace 
Theatre compared favourably with many similar venues in the country.  The 
group was impressed to learn that Council employees were completing a lot of 
technical refurbishment work independently.  For example, it had been estimated 
that maintenance work required for the lighting in the theatre would have cost 
£100,000 if it had been delivered by external contractors.  However, staff with 
relevant expertise had completed the works for £12,000.  This approach to 
managing the venue had helped to reduce the ongoing maintenance costs for the 
theatre. 
 
Visits to Existing Arts Centres 
 
Members visited a number of arts centres in the country during the course of the 
review.  This included visits to: the Avoncroft Arts Centre, in Stoke Heath, 
Worcestershire; The Artrix, in Bromsgrove; Number 8 Community Arts Centre, in 
Pershore; and The Public, in West Bromwich.  Written evidence was also 
provided by representatives of Evesham Arts Centre in response to a series of 
questions proposed by the group. 
 

Page 28



 

  

  - 9 - 

A number of themes were identified by the group as common factors which had 
enabled the successful introduction of arts centres at these locations: 
 
• The arts centres visited by the group had needed to gain access to significant 

sources of funding.  This funding had been variously obtained through making 
applications to grant providers, fundraising events, Service Level Agreements 
(SLAs) with funding organisations; membership fees and renting out office 
space to local organisations.   

• The majority of the venues had been established prior to the global economic 
crisis.   

• Land or buildings had often been donated for use by an arts centre.  
Generally, these donations had been made by schools/colleges, local 
authorities and charitable trusts. 

• Volunteers had made a significant contribution to the successful introduction 
of many of the venues.  Key roles fulfilled by volunteers included managing 
the café/bar at a venue; acting as stewards during performances; working at 
the box office and assisting with the maintenance of the building. 

• Individuals or groups involved in establishing an arts centre needed to be 
prepared to compromise.  Frequently, compromises needed to be agreed in 
relation to the building used as a base for an arts centre as well as the 
programme at the venue. 

• The people co-ordinating the introduction of an arts centre needed to be 
organised and to have the ability to drive the project forward. 

• In the majority of cases the successful introduction of an arts centre had taken 
a significant amount of time to achieve.  Generally, a local community arts 
group had committed to completing the project over a number of years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Members visited The Artrix in Bromsgrove during the course of the 
review.  Featured are (from left to right) Councillors Pat Witherspoon, 
Joe Baker, Gay Hopkins (Chair) and Brandon Clayton. 

Page 29



 

  

  - 10 - 

Consultation 
 
The group recognised that during the review it would be important to identify the 
level of support within the local community for the introduction of an arts and 
culture centre in the Borough. A short questionnaire was therefore circulated for 
the consideration of local residents between November 2012 and January 2013.  
To ensure that feedback was obtained from a range of people, from different 
socio-economic backgrounds and age groups, Members ensured that 
questionnaires were distributed using a variety of methods (Appendix 4). 
 
A total of 359 completed questionnaires were returned to the group during the 
consultation period.  Members recognise that this number represents only 0.4% 
of the local population.  However, the group concluded that this number of 
responses was sufficient to identify common trends in public perceptions of the 
arts and arts venues amongst Redditch residents.  The feedback has therefore 
helped to inform the group’s final recommendations. 
 
Local arts groups were also consulted during the course of the review through 
the circulation of a separate questionnaire.  The group was eager to consult with 
local arts groups in order to determine the level of support within the arts locally 
for the introduction of an arts centre and the extent to which this type of venue 
might be used. 
 
Members were disappointed to receive only 12 completed copies of their 
questionnaire from local arts groups and individual artists.  Whilst the group 
welcomed the feedback that had been provided by these respondents, Members 
concluded that this number of responses could not necessarily be considered 
representative of the local arts community.   

Page 30



 

  

  - 11 - 

CHAPTER 1: RECOMMENDATIONS THAT COULD BE IMPLEMENTED IN 
THE SHORT OR MEDIUM-TERM 
 
 
Recommendation 1 

 
The Arts in Redditch Network, and the benefits to 
be accrued from membership of the partnership, 
should be promoted to local arts groups. 
 

Financial Implications  
 
 
Legal Implications 

There are no financial implications for either the 
Council or the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
There are no legal implications, for either the Council 
or the network. 
 

 
The merger of the AiR Partnership with the Campaign for a Redditch Arts Centre, 
to form the Arts in Redditch Network, created an opportunity for a single body to 
act as a lead representative for and to meet the needs of the local arts 
community.  Members have been advised that a number of local arts groups are 
already members of the Arts in Redditch Network, though this figure has never 
been quantified.  There are also local arts groups in the town which have not yet 
become members of the network. 
 
During the course of the review elected Members developed some concerns 
about the potential of the network to meet the needs of local arts groups at 
present.  Whilst the merger of the two groups had taken place in March 2012 no 
name was agreed for the combined body until March 2013.  During this time two 
separate websites continued to be maintained for the AiR Partnership and 
Campaign for a Redditch Arts Centre respectively. No information was recorded 
on either website acknowledging that the merger had taken place.  Under these 
circumstances Members became concerned that it was not clear to external arts 
groups that a merger had taken place or what the purpose was of the combined 
body. 
 
This is unfortunate as there is the potential for membership of the Arts in 
Redditch Network to have a positive impact on local arts groups in Redditch.  The 
benefits of membership include the following: 
  

• Being involved in planning the future strategic direction of the arts in 
Redditch:  An arts society, like the Arts in Redditch Network, is in a position 
to influence local arts policy and long term arts development in the Borough.  

• Increased exposure to the wider arts community through the network’s 
advocacy role. The network should primarily act as a champion for the arts 
in Redditch as well as sub-regionally, regionally and nationally. The network 
can also act as a hub, compiling success stories and collating indicators of 
the arts sector’s performance in the town.   

• Opportunities to network.  The network should be a hub that provides 
pertinent information, guidance and training to the arts sector in Redditch.  In 

Page 31



 

  

  - 12 - 

this capacity the network can also be a sounding board for local arts groups 
considering particular ideas or projects and can act as a support mechanism 
for the arts sector in the town.   The network should provide an informal 
platform for sharing ideas and meeting potential artistic partners. 

• Access to useful resources.  The network should provide and stimulate arts 
provision and related activity that supports the local arts community.  This 
can include providing guidance on funding applications and applying for 
funds to deliver strategic objectives. Members of the network should be in a 
position to pool resources in order to develop an arts strategy which meets 
the needs of the local arts community.   The network should also be able to 
identify available human, physical and financial resources in order to 
progress the arts strategy in Redditch.   

 
Members believe that membership of the Arts in Redditch Network could be 
promoted at a relatively limited financial cost. In particular, the group is proposing 
that membership of the network should be promoted on the network’s website as 
well as on the websites of organisations that are members of the network, 
including Redditch Borough Council’s website.   
 
The group has been advised that the Arts in Redditch Network has concluded 
that it is not appropriate to continue to maintain two separate websites to promote 
the arts in Redditch.  In fact, the website for the campaign has now been 
decommissioned. A new website is due to be launched for the combined 
network.  The network is aiming to include a number of new features on this 
website including: a list of facilities that are already available for local arts groups 
to hire in the town; information about venues in the town that can be used for arts 
activities and meetings; and details about local arts societies.  The launch of the 
new website would be an ideal opportunity to start promoting membership of the 
network to local arts groups. 
 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
 

 
The Arts in Redditch Network should maintain a 
list of existing arts groups in Redditch on their 
new website. 
 
d) The Council should continue to maintain a link 

from the local authority’s website to the new 
Arts in Redditch Network website. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
 
Legal Implications 

There are no financial implications for either the 
Council or the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
There are no legal implications, for either the Council 
or the partnership. 
 

 
The public consultation undertaken by the group revealed that many residents 
were interested in participating in the arts. Almost 150 arts activities were 

Page 32



 

  

  - 13 - 

suggested by local residents for inclusion in the programme at an arts and culture 
centre.  A number of activities were suggested and frequently residents were 
keen to suggest that a range of options should be available to meet the needs of 
different communities and age groups.    
 
There were some activities that were particularly popular amongst the residents 
who responded to the group which included: 
 
• Dance. 
• Live music. 
• Singing. 
• Amateur dramatics. 
• Visual art, particularly painting and drawing. 
• Art exhibitions. 
• Art and craft courses and workshops. 
• Crafts. 
• Children and youth activities. 
• Photography. 
• Pottery. 
 
A number of the residents responding to the group appeared to be concerned 
about current arts provision within the town.  Indeed, one resident commented 
that “…to be honest apart from the Palace Theatre Redditch is a bit of a cultural 
backwater characterised by boring architecture and where there are no 
interesting public spaces and little is provided to do in the evenings.” Some 
respondents expressed concerns that there was limited awareness of existing 
arts facilities: “…The Old Needle Works on Britten Street is an established facility 
that is just in need of support and promotion…” Many residents suggested 
existing arts activities should be the primary focus of the arts community in the 
immediate term: “…we should perhaps focus on improving and supporting what 
is already in place and ‘fill the gaps’ before embarking on yet another new 
enterprise…” 
 
Research undertaken by the group revealed that there is already a rich and 
diverse arts community within the town.  A simple internet search was completed 
during the review to identify opportunities to participate in arts and cultural 
activities (Appendix 5).  This represented a basic search of the internet and 
would not necessarily have enabled the group to identify information about every 
local arts group operating in the town.  However, it did provide Members with an 
opportunity to assess the basic level of arts provision within the Borough. 
 
In the majority of cases it was possible to identify opportunities to participate in 
the arts activities that had been suggested by local residents or to view artistic 
output.  For the more popular activities a significant number of opportunities to 
participate, ranging from involvement in local amateur groups to membership of 
commercial enterprises, were identified.  These opportunities extended 
throughout the Borough. 

Page 33



 

  

  - 14 - 

 
Based on their research the group came to the conclusion that the main problem 
for the arts in Redditch was effective promotion of arts activities to local people.  
Members believe that the Arts in Redditch Network is the most appropriate body 
to address this problem. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Arts in Redditch Network has been working in recent months to raise the 
profile of the campaign for a Redditch Arts Centre and the network has organised 
some successful fundraising events.  This has also been included as an objective 
in the constitution for the combined network, which states that the body will aim 
“to establish a physical centre in a suitable location as a home for the 
participatory arts in Redditch”.   
 
However, Members have been advised that there is a risk that the campaign 
could be prioritised at the expense of promoting existing arts groups in the town.  
In this context there is the possibility that participation in the arts may remain 
static or diminish over time due to a lack of awareness amongst residents.  The 
consequences of this could be that there will not be sufficient arts groups active 
within the local community to utilise an arts and culture centre. 
 

Local bands perform each year at the Morton Stanley Festival in 
Redditch. 

Page 34



 

  

  - 15 - 

This outcome could be avoided.  The constitution of the Arts in Redditch Network 
also commits the body “to promote and encourage accessible arts participation” 
and “to raise the profile of the arts in Redditch”.  The new Arts in Redditch 
Network website, once it has been launched, would be an ideal communications 
tool that could be utilised to promote art groups and opportunities to participate in 
the arts to Redditch residents.   
 
To encourage residents to revisit the site this website would need to be updated 
regularly by representatives of the network, which could be a relatively time 
consuming task.  However, Members have been advised that when the content 
of a website is not regularly updated internet users gradually cease to use that 
website. 
 
The group is aware that visitors who are not familiar with the Arts in Redditch 
Network may approach the Council for further information about the arts in 
Redditch in the first instance.  In particular, it is likely that some people would use 
the Council’s website to obtain further information about the arts in Redditch 
alongside other leisure activities.   
 
In the past Officers maintained a link from the Council’s website to the website of 
the former AiR Partnership, which enabled customers utilising the Council’s 
website to obtain further information about the arts.  The group is suggesting that 
similar action should be taken to link the local authority’s website to the new 
website for the Arts in Redditch Network.   
 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
 

 
An online Redditch Arts Map, including an arts 
trail, outlining the location of public art works and 
venues in the Borough and linked to an icon on 
the new information kiosks in the town centre, 
should be introduced. 
 

 
Financial Implications 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
There are no immediate financial implications for the 
Council. 
 
There are direct financial implications for the Arts in 
Redditch Network as it has been estimated that it 
would cost £9,450 to produce the arts map and 
additional maintenance costs.  The group is 
suggesting that these costs should be met by the Arts 
in Redditch Network through submitting a funding 
application to an organisation that provides grants to 
the arts. 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

  

  - 16 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Legal Implications 

 
Information kiosks cost approximately £25,000 to 
install in an outdoors location.  Choose How You Move  
are intending to fund the introduction of two new 
kiosks, one of which will be installed outside.  The 
other will be installed in the train station. The funding 
from Choose How You Move will cover the cost of the 
implementation, software and the kiosk as well as 
maintenance costs.   
 
There are no legal implications, for either the Council 
or the network. 
 

 
Redditch Arts Map 
 
The group has concluded that an online Redditch arts map would be another 
useful communications tool that could be used by the Arts in Redditch Network to 
promote existing arts activities and events in the Borough.  Members agree that it 
would be more appropriate for the Arts in Redditch Network to develop and 
maintain a Redditch Arts Map than the Council because of the network’s 
constitutional commitment to promoting the arts in Redditch.  The group has also 
been advised that the Council would not have the resources required to produce 
and maintain a Redditch Arts Map. 
 
Members have identified a number of features that they believe should be 
included in a Redditch Arts Map: 
 
• A basic map of the Borough. 
• Symbols that could be used on the map to indicate the location of arts 

features.  Members are suggesting that this could take the form of coloured 
dots.  Each dot could link to specific information about an arts group, an arts 
venue or an example of public artwork located in the town. 

• Details about existing arts groups based in the town with each entry including: 
the name of the body; contact details; a picture of the group’s meeting 
location; participation fees; and a basic description of the group/activity. 

• Details about existing arts venues located in the town with each entry 
including; the name of the venue; a picture of the venue; contact details; and 
a basic summary of the purpose of the venue. 

• An arts trail, featuring public artwork located in the town which would include 
the following details for each example: a picture of the artwork; and a 
reference to the address/location of the artwork. 

• A filter system that would enable a visitor to restrict their search of the map to 
focus on specific areas of interest.  To support the filter system the group is 
suggesting that different coloured dots could be used, for example to 
represent arts venues and arts activities. 

 

Page 36



 

  

  - 17 - 

The group has been informed that the basic content of the Redditch arts map 
should be relatively easy to obtain and upload.  The map could also be easily 
embedded online on a website, such as the new Arts in Redditch Network 
website. The main difficulty identified in relation to the Redditch arts map would 
be the time and resources required to update the content of the map.  Accurate 
information about participation fees and the location of activities in particular 
would need to be updated to encourage visitors to continue to use the facility.  
Information would also need to be provided about new arts groups, once 
established, and details about groups and activities would need to be removed if 
those bodies were disbanded.  
 
Based on the group’s proposals Members have been advised that the Redditch 
Arts Map would cost an estimated £9,450 to develop.  This would cover the costs 
of: installing plug-ins, which create a requested feature such as a picture gallery 
or interactive information coded to a website; installation of live and test web 
servers; graphics; web maps and connectors; baseline style choice and 
installation costs; data collection and entry; content creation; and training for 
individuals who would need to maintain the content of the map in future.  If the 
Arts in Redditch Network chose to establish the Redditch Arts Map as a feature 
separate from their website additional funding would be needed to cover the 
costs of website hosting and the domain name for the map. 
 
The group recognises that the Arts in Redditch Network may not currently be in a 
position to commit to spending £9,450 on an arts map for Redditch.  Therefore, in 
order to meet these financial costs the group is suggesting that the Arts in 
Redditch Network should submit an application for funding to an organisation that 
provides grants to the arts.   
 
Information Boards 
 
Two information kiosks are due to be introduced in Redditch town centre in 2013.  
One of these kiosks will be situated outdoors in the town centre.  The other is due 
to be installed in Redditch train station.  The installation of the kiosks is already 
due to be paid for using funding provided by Worcestershire County Council’s 
Choose How You Move 2 programme.   
 
The information on these kiosks will be displayed in two different ways.  On one 
side of the kiosk information will be provided about sustainable transport options 
in the town.  The other side of the kiosk will provide visitors with access to 
interactive information using a touchscreen system.  A number of icons, 
representing different areas of interest will be available as options for visitors to 
select on the touchscreen.  Each option will link the user to an external website or 
other online source of information. 
 
The group is keen to ensure that one of the icons on the information kiosks’ 
touchscreen should be dedicated to the arts in Redditch.  Ideally, Members are 
suggesting that this icon should link to the Redditch arts map, once this facility 
has been established.   

Page 37



 

  

  - 18 - 

 
Arts Trail 
 
As part of the group’s proposals a Redditch arts trail would be one of the options 
available to include on the Redditch Arts Map.  The trail would feature various 
public artworks located throughout the town including features as diverse as the 
Paolozzi mosaics in the Kingfisher Shopping Centre and the new interactive 
sculpture at the Arrow Valley Countryside Centre.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A number of arts and heritage trails have been developed in other parts of the 
country.  During the course of the review Members viewed a Leamington Spa 
arts trail map, which features information about local art galleries, and an online 
heritage trail for South Telford.  In both cases visual features and written 
information had been combined with clear directions for the trail. 
 
The trail, as a walking or cycling trail, would complement existing efforts in the 
town to encourage people to live healthy lives.  Indeed, health inequalities is 
currently one of the key priorities of the Redditch Local Strategic Partnership 
(LSP).  The group has also been advised by Council Officers that an arts trail 
would also be regarded as a positive initiative for the arts in Redditch.  Officers 
have suggested that they would be willing to incorporate an arts trail as an 
aspiration into the new Redditch Arts Strategy. 
 
The trail, as a walking and cycling trail, would encourage sustainable forms of 
travel.  This corresponds with the wider objectives of Choose How You Move.  In 
this context the group urges Choose How you Move to consider introducing an 
arts icon on the information kiosks, as this would link through to an arts map and 
trail. 

The 12 panels of the 
Paolozzi mosaics, which 
are on public display in 
the Kingfisher Shopping 
Centre (left), could 
feature in a Redditch arts 
trail. 

 

Page 38



 

  

  - 19 - 

 
Recommendation 4 
 
 

 
Art exhibition space, where local artists can 
display their work, should be introduced at the 
Palace Theatre and the Abbey Stadium. 
 
a) The Arts in Redditch Network should promote 
opportunities to display local artists’ work. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
 
Legal Implications 

There are no financial implications for the Council or 
for the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
Redditch Borough Council would need to agree terms 
and conditions with artists when arranging for artwork 
to be displayed in the Palace Theatre and Abbey 
Stadium.  Members have been advised that this 
agreement could be based on an adapted version of 
the agreements that the Palace Theatre currently 
reaches with arts bodies that hire facilities at the 
venue. 
 

 
The group recognises that there are some opportunities for the Council to help 
promote the arts and local artists in Redditch.  In particular, Members believe that 
Council arts venues, particularly the Palace Theatre and the Abbey Stadium, 
have the potential to be used as the base for art exhibitions. 
 
There are already a number of art exhibitions in the town.  Exhibitions are 
currently in place, or appear on occasion at: Arrow Valley Countryside Centre; 
the Kingfisher Shopping Centre (temporary exhibitions organised by Redditch Art 
Circle); the Redditch Art and Heritage Gallery (at Millsborough House); AiR 
Partnership Website (online); Redditch Library (temporary exhibitions); the Old 
Needle Works Craft Centre; and Walter Stranz Café.   
 
The group concluded that additional exhibition space would be appreciated by 
local residents.  Art exhibitions were frequently identified, during consultation, as 
a popular feature of the arts.  Respondents commented that “…Up and coming 
artists should be able to exhibit alongside some already established members of 
the art community.  Even controversial art should be included.  No one should be 
excluded just because it may get passions raised…”  Many residents were also 
keen to ensure that local artists’ work was displayed in these exhibition areas: 
“…display local talent: photography, art, historical interest groups, location craft, 
artisan’s works etc.” The potential to introduce an exhibition space in the Palace 
Theatre had also been recognised: “…the foyer would make an excellent art 
gallery.  Let’s recognise what we have, use it better and relish it”. 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

  

  - 20 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There have been discussions about introducing an art exhibition space at the 
Palace Theatre in the past.  The foyer in particular has been identified as a 
location that could be used for an art gallery.  The Council’s Leisure Services 
team have recognised that there is the potential to introduce exhibition space at 
the theatre and have agreed that the introduction of an exhibition space should 
be added to the work programme for the venue. The group has also been 
advised that there will be a special exhibition in the theatre in 2013 as part of the 
centenary celebrations at the venue. 
 
A pilot exhibition has already been organised at the Abbey Stadium.  For this pilot 
exhibition the local community group, Your Ideas, has arranged to display 
artwork in the stadium.  In the long-term Officers have suggested that they would 
be keen to introduce an exhibition space in the café area at the stadium. 
 
There would be some legal considerations to address if exhibition spaces are 
permanently introduced at the Palace Theatre and Abbey Stadium.  Terms and 
conditions would need to be agreed between the artist(s) and the venue in 
relation to key considerations such as display arrangements and the duration of 
the exhibition.  This agreement would also need to address legal liability 

The interior of the auditorium at Redditch Palace Theatre.  Many residents who 
completed the group’s questionnaire praised the Palace Theatre, which was 
described as “a gem in the town” and as having “the potential to be at the centre 
of the arts in Redditch”. 

Page 40



 

  

  - 21 - 

arrangements in the event of any damages that might occur to artwork during the 
exhibition. 
 
Members have been advised that the main barrier to successfully organising art 
exhibitions at the Palace Theatre and the Abbey Stadium is in relation to 
promoting the opportunity to artists and art groups.  The Council currently lacks 
the resources and the contacts to promote exhibition opportunities to local artists.  
However, artists need to be aware of the potential to display their work at both 
venues in order to take advantage of the opportunity. 
 
The Arts in Redditch Network, and members of the network, are in an ideal 
position to promote all art exhibition opportunities in the town to local artists.  
Indeed, one of the objectives of the network, as detailed in the body’s 
constitution, is “to consult widely to identify relevant arts needs and 
opportunities”.  In accordance with this objective information about exhibition 
opportunities could be promoted on the network’s new website.  Furthermore, 
representatives of the network could promote exhibition opportunities to 
individual artists and student artists using existing contacts within the arts 
community. 
 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
 

 
The Council should continue to provide support 
and advice to any community group aiming to 
introduce a new arts group in the town. 
In addition: 
 
c) action should be taken to increase public 

awareness of the support and advice provided 
by the Council to community groups with an 
interest in the arts; and 

 
d) any new enquiries should be signposted to the 

Arts in Redditch Network to facilitate the 
formation of new arts groups. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
 
 
 
 
Legal Implications 

There are no additional financial implications for the 
Council as Officers already provide support and advice 
to community groups aiming to introduce new arts 
groups in the town.  There are no financial implications 
for the Arts in Redditch Network. 
 
There are no legal implications, for either the Council 
or the network.  
 

 
One of the key roles of the Council’s Arts and Events team is to assist with the 
development of the arts in Redditch.  This assistance includes providing 
guidance to community representatives interested in establishing new arts 

Page 41



 

  

  - 22 - 

groups in the Borough as well as professional advice to existing arts groups.  In 
this capacity a representative of the team remains a member of the Arts in 
Redditch Network.   
 
During the course of the review Members became concerned that there was 
limited awareness within the local arts community that the Council provided this 
form of assistance.  Indeed, representatives of the Arts in Redditch Network 
consulted by the group did not appear to be aware that the Council currently acts 
in this capacity. 
 
The group is therefore proposing that action should be taken by Officers to 
increase awareness that the Council fulfils this support role.  This message could 
be communicated at meetings of the Arts in Redditch Network board, as this will 
help to ensure that members of the partnership can learn about the support that 
can be accessed from the Council.  Information about the professional support 
provided by the Council could also be recorded on both the Arts in Redditch 
Network’s new website and on the Council’s website. 
 
Members have been advised that at least two enquiries a month are received by 
the team from individuals who are not currently part of the established local arts 
community.  These enquiries are generally generated as a consequence of an 
individual visiting the original website for the AiR Partnership, as the contact 
details recorded for the partnership are for Redditch Town Hall.  However, 
information about these enquiries is not currently shared with the Arts in Redditch 
Network. 
 
The group believes that new enquiries about the arts, including the potential to 
establish new arts groups in the town, should increasingly be signposted to the 
Arts in Redditch Network.  A key objective in the body’s constitution is for the Arts 
in Redditch Network “to act as a champion for the arts”.  The network will 
potentially struggle to champion new arts groups and activities unless members 
of the body are aware that these art groups have been established.  In addition, 
limited engagement with the network could have a detrimental impact on the 
potential to promote the new activity.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

  

  - 23 - 

 
Recommendation 6 
 
 

 
The evidence gathered by Members during the 
course of the review and the information contained 
in the Arts and Culture Centre Task Group’s final 
report should be taken into account by Officers 
when producing the new Redditch Arts Strategy. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
 
 
 
Legal Implications 

There are no additional financial implications for the 
Council as the Leisure Services team had already 
committed to producing a new arts strategy for 
Redditch prior to the launch of the Task Group. 
 
There are no legal implications for the Council. 
 

 
A new Redditch Arts Strategy is due to be published in 2013.  Members are 
aware that a lot of the information that has been gathered during the course of 
the review may be relevant to the content of the arts strategy.  In particular, the 
notes from the 18 meetings of the group that took place between October 2012 
and March 2013, together with the feedback provided by local residents during 
the public consultation exercise may be of interest to Officers when preparing the 
strategy. 
 
The group believes that this action will have a limited impact on Council 
resources as the Council’s Leisure Services team was already aiming to produce 
a new arts strategy in 2013.  In addition, Officers have reported to Members that 
they have already started to analyse some of the evidence gathered by the 
group. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

  

  - 24 - 

CHAPTER 2:  RECOMMENDATIONS THAT COULD BE IMPLEMENTED IN 
THE LONG-TERM 

 
 
Recommendation 7 
 
 

 
In an ideal world an arts centre would be 
established in Redditch by a community group.  
However, in order for this objective to be achieved 
the community group needs to be aware of and to 
address the following barriers: 
 
a) the extent to which local arts groups would 

make use of an arts centre; 
b) the financial costs involved in establishing and 

maintaining an arts centre; 
c) funding application requirements; 
d) creating a sustainable business case; 
e) legal liability and accountability issues; 
f) availability of volunteers to operate the centre; 

and 
g) management arrangements for the centre. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
 
 
 
Legal Implications 

There are no financial implications for the Council.  
The financial implications of establishing an arts centre 
for a community group have been detailed in the report 
for interested stakeholders to note. 
 
There are no legal implications for the Council.  The 
legal implications of establishing an arts centre for a 
community group have been detailed in the report for 
interested stakeholders to note. 
 

 
Background 
 
Throughout the review Members were in agreement that in an ideal world there 
should be an arts centre in Redditch.  This aspiration was shared by a significant 
proportion of the local residents who completed a copy of the group’s 
questionnaire.  The majority of respondents, when asked to clarify to what extent 
they would support the introduction of an arts and culture centre indicated that 
they were either very much in favour or quite supportive of the proposal.  A 
number of residents were very encouraging making statements such as: “I think 
an arts centre would be fine in Redditch”.  Other residents were keen for an arts 
centre to be established because they believed there were wider benefits for 
society:  “…this is a very exciting opportunity even in these awful financial 
stricken times.  The arts give refuge and distraction with the ability of expression”. 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

  

  - 25 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
However, a significant number of respondents were concerned about the 
potential of any organisation to fund an arts centre: “…In the current financial 
climate I feel that establishing a wholly separate arts centre may be a little too 
ambitious and possibly unrealistic…” Furthermore, many residents expressed 
strong reservations about public money, particularly local authority funding, being 
spent on an arts centre: “…I do not believe this is the right time to be considering 
unnecessary expenditure of tax payers’ money when government funding is 
being cut year on year to local authorities.  Whilst in an ideal world an arts centre 
would be great for the town unless it could be privately funded the authority 
should concentrate on providing good, basic services…” 
 
The group is aware that the Council is currently in the process of making 
efficiency savings and needs to use financial resources to deliver core public 
services.  Based on this situation, and the feedback received from residents, 
Members concluded that it would not be appropriate for the Council to manage or 
to provide financial support to an arts and culture centre.   
 
However, the group recognises that an independent community group might be 
interested in establishing an arts and culture centre in the town.  Indeed, 
community arts groups and societies have tended to play an instrumental role in 
establishing arts centres in other parts of the country, including Number 8 
Community Arts Centre, The Artrix and The Public.  In order to achieve similar 
success with an arts centre project in Redditch Members are suggesting that 
interested community groups should regard the project from a business 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

5 4 3 2 1 No
answer

Question 1:  To what extent do you think there should be an 
arts centre in Redditch? (on a scale where 5 is very much in 

favour and 1 very much opposed)

Number of times selected

Page 45



 

  

  - 26 - 

perspective, even if the intention is to manage the venue on a not for profit basis, 
and address a number of key issues as detailed below. 
 
Local Art Groups 
 
Based on their research Members have concluded that local arts groups’ use of 
an arts and culture centre will be crucial to the sustainability of the venue.  The 
needs and demands of local arts groups will determine what facilities and 
technical equipment is made available at an arts centre.  More significantly, 
income from room hire at an arts centre will be essential to the financial security 
of the venue.  Under these circumstances, a community group will need to 
secure the commitment of a number of local arts groups to use an arts centre in 
order to create a sustainable enterprise. 
 
The group did attempt to identify the extent to which local arts groups would 
utilise an arts centre.  Unfortunately, the group was disappointed to receive only 
12 completed questionnaires from local arts groups, though Members are aware 
that there are more than 12 arts groups in Redditch.  Members were concerned 
that the limited number of responses might indicate that local arts groups were 
not particularly interested in establishing or using an arts centre.   
 
Members did not establish through consultation whether any local arts groups 
would be prepared to commit to using an arts and culture centre in the town.  
However, the group has been advised by representatives of the AiR Partnership 
that many local arts groups are reluctant to relocate from existing meeting 
venues.  There are two key reasons for this reluctance: 
 
• There are concerns that an arts and culture centre may not be sustainable.  

There is a risk that, if the arts centre was to close, an arts group would lose a 
permanent base in which to meet. 

• Organisers of local arts groups are concerned that people would cease to be 
members if the group started to meet at a new location some distance from 
their previous base. 

 
To an extent the group believes that the second of these concerns could be 
easily addressed if, in line with recommendation 2, the arts in Redditch are 
promoted well.  Increased promotion of the activities should encourage greater 
awareness within the local community of these activities.  Membership numbers 
for groups that are promoted should increase as a consequence.  This would 
help to ensure that, even if some members were reluctant to relocate, a sufficient 
membership would remain once meetings were taking place at an arts centre. 
 
The introduction of an arts and culture centre, if it is utilised by existing arts 
groups, could indirectly impact on other meeting venues in the town.  Members 
identified at least 18 venues in the Borough, including Council venues and private 
properties, that currently can be hired by community groups.  A number of local 
arts groups meet at these premises.  Relocation of a significant number of local 
arts groups to an arts and culture centre could impact upon the long-term 

Page 46



 

  

  - 27 - 

business interests of the original meeting venues.   It is possible that some 
venues might increase their hire charges in order to cover business expenses 
and this could have a detrimental impact on the financial position of local arts 
groups that choose not to or are unable to meet at the arts and culture centre. 
 
A community group would need to consult with local arts groups further in order 
to identify the extent to which the arts community would be supportive and make 
use of an arts centre.  The community group would also need to assess when the 
venue would be in demand.  At many venues where facilities can be hired there 
are particular times in the week that are especially popular with customers.  
There is a risk that interested arts groups would want to hire facilities at the same 
time whilst significant gaps would remain in use of the facilities at other times in 
the week.  This could have a detrimental impact on the financial sustainability of 
the venue. 
 
There was one exception within the feedback from local arts groups that 
Members concluded was representative of the arts community.  Local arts groups 
were asked to consider where an arts centre should be established in the town.  
Consistently, representatives of local arts groups suggested that an arts centre 
should be established in the town centre. Preference for a central location was 
shared by many residents who engaged with the group during public consultation 
as it was considered to be more accessible: “…It is important that the centre be 
made easily accessible to all so its location is a major consideration. Ideally it 
needs to be in the centre of town itself as this is easily accessible, even by public 
transport, for all no matter where in the Borough they live”.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

N
um

be
r 

of
 ti

m
e 

se
le

ct
ed

options

Preferred location for an arts centre

Number of times selected

On this subject one of the respondents selected two preferred 
locations, another respondent selected the town centre as their 
preferred option but suggested they would consider any location.  
Finally a preferred location was identified by an individual who had 
completed a questionnaire that had not been produced by the group.   

Page 47



 

  

  - 28 - 

A community group should take into account preferences expressed by both local 
arts groups and residents when selecting premises that could be used as the 
base for an arts and culture centre.  There are currently a number of vacant 
properties in the town centre which could potentially be used for this purpose.  
Indeed, the group identified a number of properties located in and around the 
town centre that could potentially be used for this purpose.  The central location 
of the venue could be crucial to securing the patronage of local arts groups and 
visitors alike. 
 
Financial Costs 
 
There are likely to be significant financial costs involved in establishing and 
maintaining an arts centre.  Members have identified the following costs that 
would need to be addressed: 
 
• Members recognise that it is more likely that premises will be leased rather 

than purchased. The scale of rental payments will vary according to the 
location and size of the property.  These rental costs will be higher if an arts 
centre is established in the preferred location of the town centre. 

• Business rates will also need to be paid at a venue unless the community 
group had charitable status. 

• A vacant property may require significant refurbishment work to make the 
premises habitable.  Depending on the state of the property this is likely to 
require significant financial investment. 

• Adaptations may need to be made to the property to ensure that it is suitable 
to use for particular activities. 

• Equipment may need to be purchased, depending on the programme 
introduced at the venue.  For example, photographic groups may require 
photographic equipment and a dark room. 

• The majority of buildings require maintenance over time which will have 
financial implications for the centre. 

• Utilities bills will need to be paid to cover: heating; water; and lighting. 
• Insurance will need to be secured for the property.  
• There is the possibility that staff will need to be employed to manage the 

centre.   
• Consideration should be given to having a contingency fund which could be 

used to address any unforeseen circumstances. 
 
Many of the arts centres visited by the group had required significant financial 
investment.  At the top end of the scale a total of £72 million had been invested in 
establishing The Public.  In Bromsgrove £2.6 million was invested in building the 
premises for The Artrix.  The costs involved in establishing arts centres in 
existing buildings had been less expensive.  However, local campaigners had 
been required to raise sufficient funds.  At Number 8 Community Arts Centre this 
had initially been achieved by campaigners through raising funds in a charity 
shop on the premises, which had been used  to demonstrate to Wychavon 
District Council, from which they lease premises, that the venue could be 
managed sustainably. 

Page 48



 

  

  - 29 - 

 
The arts centres visited by the group covered their costs in a variety of ways.  
Some of the arts centres had negotiated favourable terms in relation to financial 
support from external bodies which had been confirmed in the forms of service 
level agreements (SLAs).  These arrangements had generally been agreed prior 
to the global financial crisis and Members concluded that it was unlikely similar 
arrangements could be negotiated in Redditch.   
 
At other arts centres two key features had attracted significant financial returns: a 
café and film screenings.  The group was concerned about the potential to 
replicate this success in Redditch.  Whilst Members were enthusiastic about the 
potential to introduce a café in a Redditch arts and culture centre they recognised 
that there was a lot of competition in the town, particularly in the town centre, 
which could deter customers.  Members were also aware that at many of these 
venues the film screenings had been popular because there was no other cinema 
in the town.  By contrast, Redditch already has an established cinema, the Apollo 
(Vue) cinema located in the Kingfisher Shopping Centre, as well as the 
Feckenodeon which serves customers interested in viewing independent films. 
 
Some income at an arts centre could be generated by ticket sales at the box 
office.  The cost of tickets would need to be considered carefully.  The social 
demographic mix in Redditch is varied, though there are some deprived 
communities.  This was also an issue that residents commented on.  Some 
residents suggested that fees should be set at a reasonable level: “…it should 
provide affordable access to arts provision.”   Other residents were keen to 
ensure that discounts were available to young people and residents on low 
incomes: “…There should be lots of opportunities for 14-21 year olds including 
the stage and music.  This should be free to give underprivileged young people 
opportunities otherwise closed to them”. 
 
Many of the arts centres also covered their financial costs by charging local arts 
groups to hire facilities at the venue.  These charges tended to vary.  In most 
centres a small meeting room could be hired for between £15 – 30 per hour.  
Rehearsal and performance space tended to be more expensive.  Depending on 
the size of the space, the day in the week and the timing of the hire arrangement 
groups were often charged £150 – 500 per rehearsal or performance.  Additional 
fees were also charged at many venues for technical assistance, though most 
centres permitted groups to use their own qualified technicians where available. 
 
Members did consult local arts groups about the amount that they would be 
prepared to pay to hire facilities at an arts and culture centre.  A couple of 
respondents indicated that they would be prepared to pay a negotiable or 
reasonable fee.  However, the majority indicated that they would be prepared to 
hire facilities at an arts centre for between £6 – 15 per hour.  A small number of 
respondents reported that they would be prepared to pay additional fees to hire 
storage space, office space and recording facilities. 
 

Page 49



 

  

  - 30 - 

The group noted that whilst the hire charge figures quoted by local arts groups 
were comparable to charges at most venues for meeting rooms it was unclear 
from the feedback whether local arts groups would be prepared to pay more to 
hire rehearsal and performance space at an arts and culture centre.  The figures 
suggested by local arts groups were also comparable to hire charges at existing 
meeting venues located in the town.  Members were concerned this might 
indicate that there was a lack of awareness amongst local arts groups about 
meeting hire options in the town. 
 
The group concluded that additional information was required to assess the 
extent to which local arts groups would be able and willing to pay to hire facilities 
at an arts and culture centre.  Therefore, Members would urge a community 
group to undertake further consultation with local arts groups about this matter 
when preparing to introduce an arts and culture centre in Redditch. 
 
Funding Applications 
 
A useful way to address the financial implications of establishing an arts and 
culture centre in Redditch would be to apply for funding from an organisation that 
provides grants to the arts. 
 
In recent years the budgets of many organisations that provide funding to the arts 
in the country have been reduced.  For example, the budget for the Arts Council 
England was reduced by 30& in the Government’s 2010 Spending Review and .  
in December 2012 further cuts of £11.6 million over the following two year period 
were announced.  This has occurred in a context where many local authorities 
have made cuts to their arts budgets.  Arts Development UK, a body representing 
the arts in the country, identified cuts to local authority arts budgets in the Arts 
Development UK Local Authority Arts Funding Survey 2012.   
 
The group has concluded that the cumulative impact of these cuts will be greater 
competition nationally amongst organisations seeking funding from grant 
providers.  To successfully secure a grant from a funding provider in this context 
a community group needs to ensure that their funding applications are completed 
carefully.  Members have been advised that there are particular skills to 
completing successful grant applications.  Members of a community group would 
need to develop these skills in order to attract appropriate funding to support an 
arts centre in Redditch. 
 
Applicants need to demonstrate in their applications how their project will meet 
the funding criteria stipulated by the grant provider.  Increasingly, it is also 
important for the applicant to demonstrate how the project would not duplicate 
existing services.  For example, a How to Apply guide, published online by Arts 
Council England in 2010, advises applicants that ”you cannot apply for the 
following… activities, equipment or events that double up (duplicate) what 
already exists”.  This would have implications for the choice of activities and 
facilities that could be made available at an arts and culture centre: as there is 
already an established cinema, theatre and museum in Redditch. 

Page 50



 

  

  - 31 - 

 
A community group applying for funding from a grant provider needs to be aware 
that many grant providers require an organisation to match fund a project.  
Members have been advised that in most cases organisations are required to 
secure a match funding arrangement on a 50:50 ratio, though occasionally match 
funding can be negotiated.  Grant providers expect funds to be matched by 
alternative methods of fundraising, such as through charitable fundraising events 
or donations, rather than by using a further grant.  A community group therefore 
needs to be able to organise alternative sources of finance in order to secure 
significant funding from grant providers. 
 
Business Case 
 
A robust business case can be an essential tool for community groups to use in 
order to successfully secure grant funding.  A business case for an arts and 
culture centre should demonstrate the extent to which the introduction of an arts 
centre would be meeting local demand.  The content should clearly detail what 
activities will be provided at the venue, who would use the centre, where the 
centre would be established, how it could be accessed, and how the centre 
would be financed.  This will help a grant provider to assess the project that is 
being proposed objectively. 
 
A business case can also be a useful project management tool for a community 
group aiming to establish an arts and culture centre.  A robust business case can 
be used from the start to ensure that the objectives of the project are realistic and 
clearly defined.  Throughout a project members of the community group should 
be able to refer to the business case in order to assess whether key objectives 
remain achievable within timescales set by the group.   
 
Legal Liability and Accountability 
 
A community group will need to identify a person, or group of people, who are 
prepared to assume responsibility for legal liability, accountability and financial 
risks at the venue.  This will be a key requirement from landlords when leasing a 
property to a community group, as well as insurance companies.  These 
individuals might also be held to account for a variety of reasons, such as any 
accidents at the venue. 
 
There is a risk attached to assuming legal liability for this type of project.  There is 
the potential that an arts centre would not become financially viable.  In this event 
either the community group or the venue could be forced into administration 
which would have financial implications for the community group.  A precedent 
has been set for this.  Unfortunately, a community group originally involved in 
managing The Public in Sandwell, The Public Gallery Limited, went into 
administration prior to completion of the project. Fortunately, by 2012 The Public 
had recovered, was in a financially secure position and had become a popular 
attraction in West Bromwich.  However, Members feel that previous difficulties 

Page 51



 

  

  - 32 - 

experienced by The Public should be taken into account bv a community group to 
ensure that lessons can be learned. 
 
Volunteers 
 
At each of the arts centres visited by the group volunteers provided invaluable 
support, which helped to reduce the financial costs involved in maintaining an 
arts centre.  In particular, volunteers helped by: 
 
• taking bookings and managing the box office; 
• acting as board members; 
• managing the café or bar at the venue; 
• operating technical equipment; 
• acting as stewards at events and performances; and 
• performing maintenance work on the premises. 
 
Frequently volunteers had been recruited from the supporters of the local 
community group that had originally been involved in establishing the arts centre.  
Additional volunteers had been recruited over time as the venue became more 
established.  At many venues volunteers needed to be recruited to co-ordinate 
the work of other volunteers. 
 
A community group aiming to introduce an arts centre in Redditch would equally 
benefit from assistance that could be provided by volunteers.  When establishing 
an arts centre a community group would need to make a realistic assessment of 
the number of volunteers who would help to deliver the project from the start.  
This would also help a community group to determine accurately the financial 
costs involved in delivering the project. 
 
Management Arrangements 
 
The group discovered during the review that the project team co-ordinating the 
introduction of an arts centre needs to have access to key personnel with specific 
skills and attributes in order to complete their task successfully.  This includes: 
 
• A project manager who can commit a lot of time to the initiative.  This 

individual must be capable of managing realistic plans for the project, must 
have the ability to compromise and should be capable of co-ordinating the 
work of a team. 

• An accountant, or an individual with financial management skills, is required 
to make an objective assessment of the financial costs involved in delivering 
the project.   

• A chartered surveyor or architect, capable of assessing the condition of a 
property and any work that would be required to adapt and maintain the 
premises to ensure that they are suitable to use as the base for an arts and 
culture centre. 

 

Page 52



 

  

  - 33 - 

Members also learned that once an arts centre was established consideration 
needed to be given to employing key personnel at the venue.  Many of the arts 
centres visited by the group had recruited the following staff: 
 
• A managing director responsible for managing the venue.  Frequently this 

employee was responsible for both managing the venue as a business and 
for networking with the agents of performers in order to attract high profile 
bookings. 

• An individual responsible for marketing the venue and managing the 
programme at the centre.  At some of the arts centres this role was assumed 
by the managing director. 

• A technical manager, responsible for maintaining equipment on the site. 
• At least one administrative assistant. 
 
Ultimately, in cases where arts centres visited by the group had been established 
without significant problems, the venue had benefited from the drive and 
determination of leading project managers.  Most of these venues had then 
become sustainable in the long-term because dynamic individuals, with 
appropriate skills and experience, had been employed to manage the centres.  A 
community group aiming to introduce a viable arts and culture centre in Redditch 
would need to consider attracting similar personnel to the project. 
 
 
Recommendation 8 
 
 

 
The Council should provide the following support 
and advice to any community organisation that 
aims to establish an arts and culture centre in the 
town: 

 
a) guidance on how to complete funding 

applications for grants;  
b) advice on how to produce a business case; and 
c) signpost groups to relevant expert contacts for 

further specialist help. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
 
 
 
 
Legal Implications 
 

There would be a financial cost to the Council.  
Specifically this financial cost would need to cover 
Officer time involved in providing support to a 
community organisation aiming to establish an arts 
and culture centre in Redditch. 
 
There are no legal implications for the Council. 

 
The group has concluded that Redditch Borough Council is not in an appropriate 
financial position to fund or manage an arts and culture centre.  However, 
Members believe that the Council is in a position and has a moral duty to provide 
some support to a community group involved in establishing an arts and culture 
centre in the town.   

Page 53



 

  

  - 34 - 

 
A number of Officers employed by the Council, including members of the 
Council’s Leisure Services team, have experience of applying for grant funding 
and of developing business cases for high profile projects.  Furthermore, expert 
Officers are involved in managing the Council’s grants programme, which awards 
funding to projects that enable the Council to meet core local priorities.  The 
group believes that if the Council received a request for assistance from a 
community group aiming to establish an arts and culture centre in the town 
professional advice and support should be provided by relevant staff.   
 
There is the potential that a community group would require assistance to 
address an issue that is not an area of expertise for any member of staff 
employed by the Council.  Instead, it might be more appropriate for an alternative 
organisation or individual to provide advice to the community group.  Members 
believe that in these instances Council staff should signpost the community group 
to those alternative sources of support. 
 
 
Recommendation 9 
 
 

 
The ‘Creative Redditch’ artwork should be prioritised 
for use on the next bus shelter that is installed in 
Redditch town centre. 

 
Financial 
Implications 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Legal Implications 
 

There would be financial implications for either Redditch 
Borough Council or the North Worcestershire Community 
Safety Partnership.  A new bus shelter, involving a 
number of reinforced panels in a steel frame can cost 
£2,000 – 4,000. 
 
However, the group is proposing that funding should not 
be invested in this project until a future date when 
appropriate budgets are available or a bus shelter in the 
town centre requires refurbishment work. 
 
There are no legal implications for either the Council or 
the North Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership. 
 

 
During the review the group viewed public artwork situated in the town.  This 
included artwork that had been used by Redditch Roadway Arts, on behalf of the 
local Community Safety Partnership, in the stained glass bus shelters in the 
Borough.   
 
The “stained glass” bus shelters were developed by Redditch Borough Council 
as part of the RoadWay Arts programme.  The shelters combine a robust design 
with bold and colourful artwork featuring local themes to help reduce criminal 
damage and improve community safety.  The shelters have been installed in 
locations where existing shelters have been the target of vandalism and graffiti or 
have fallen into a bad state of disrepair. 

Page 54



 

  

  - 35 - 

 
 
The Creative Redditch artwork was commissioned in 2012.  The artwork was 
inspired by the LP cover on The Beatles’ album: Sergeant Pepper's Lonely 
Hearts Club Band.  Notable creative figures, who were born or have lived in 
Redditch, feature in the artwork including: the actor Charles Dance; the comedian 
and actor Rik Mayall, the musician John Bonham and the actor, dancer and 
former Miss Redditch, Corinne Russell.  Key features of the arts in Redditch also 
appear in the artwork including: Redditch Palace Theatre; the Paolozzi mosaics; 
the Needles Gateway and the Holocaust Memorial. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Creative Redditch artwork currently features on a bus shelter located on 
Coldfield Drive in Oakenshaw.  The Councillors believe this artwork would also 
be suitable for a bus shelter located in the town centre, particularly in a location 
close to the bus station and train station.  This would help to promote both artistic 
achievements in the town and local venues and features that people coming to 
the town might then choose to visit. 
 
In the past stained glass bus shelters have been installed using funding from 
Redditch Borough Council, the former Redditch Community Safety Partnership 
and by Choose How You Move.  Subject to the organisation’s agreement, a new 
bus shelter, using the Creative Redditch artwork, could be introduced using 
funding from any one of these bodies. 
 
Members have been advised that currently there are no bus shelters in the town 
centre that are in state of disrepair.  Furthermore, the group has been advised 
that in the current financial climate both Redditch Borough Council and the North 
Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership might struggle to invest in the 

The attached artwork, entitled Creative Redditch, was designed by artist Noel 
Campbell, graduate of NEW College. Each section represents a panel in a bus 
shelter.  The bus shelters could also be incorporated into a Redditch Arts trail. 
 

Page 55



 

  

  - 36 - 

installation of a new stained glass bus shelter.  Stained glass bus shelters can 
cost £2,000 – 4,000 to install.  As a consequence the group has concluded that it 
may not be possible to introduce a bus shelter using the Creative Redditch 
artwork in the short term. 
 
However, the group believes that both Redditch Borough Council and the North 
Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership may gain access to additional 
financial and other resources in future years.  There is also the possibility that 
over time the condition of the current bus shelters located within the town centres 
will deteriorate to a point where a replacement will be required.  Members are 
therefore proposing that use of the Creative Redditch artwork on a stained glass 
bus shelter in the town centre should be agreed as an aspiration for the future. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



 

  

  - 37 - 

CONCLUSION 
 
The Arts and Culture Centre Task Group has completed a thorough review of the 
arts and the potential to introduce an arts and culture centre in Redditch.  All of 
the proposals contained within the report are informed by the extensive evidence 
that was gathered by the group.  Elected Members anticipate that if their 
recommendations are approved and implemented they will have a beneficial 
impact on the arts in Redditch. 
 
The eight recommendations agreed by the group are more wide ranging than the 
group anticipated at the start of their review.  In particular, the group did not 
envisage that they would be suggesting actions that could be taken to promote 
the arts in general within the town nor were Members originally expecting that the 
group would be making proposals designed to shape the future of the leading 
arts society in the Borough.  The fact that these subjects feature in the group’s 
final proposals demonstrates the wider lessons that have been learned by 
Members during the review and their commitment to the arts in Redditch. 
 
Whilst a number of the recommendations will require action by Redditch Borough 
Council many of the proposals will have implications for external organisations, 
particularly the Arts in Redditch Network.  Elected Members are hopeful that both 
the Executive Committee (decision making body) at the Council and the Arts in 
Redditch Network will find their proposals constructive and will approve their 
proposals.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 

  

  - 38 - 

 
APPENDIX 1 

Scrutiny Proposal Form  
 

(This form should be completed by sponsoring Member(s), Officers and / or 
members of the public when proposing an item for Scrutiny). 

 
Note:  The matters detailed below have not yet received any detailed 

consideration.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee reserves the right to reject 
suggestions for scrutiny that fall outside the Borough Council’s remit. 

 
 

Proposer’s name and 
designation 

 

 
Councillor Gay 

Hopkins 
(Councillor Andrew 

Brazier) 
 

 
Date of referral 

 
17/07/12 

 
Proposed topic title 

 

 
Arts and Culture Centre Task Group 

 
Link to national, 

regional and local 
priorities and targets  

 
 

 
Redditch Borough Council priority - Enterprising 
Communities. 
 
Redditch Sustainable Community Strategy - education 
attainment and raising aspirations of young people. 
 

 
Background to the 
issue 

 
 

 
On Monday 14th May 2012 a Member training session, 
focusing on Overview and Scrutiny, was held in 
Redditch.  During the course of this training session a 
number of items were proposed for scrutiny.  This 
included the suggestion that Members should review 
the possibility of introducing an Arts Centre in Redditch. 
 
There are numerous bodies in Redditch which have 
been established to provide residents with an 
opportunity to participate in the arts.  Unfortunately, in 
recent years many of these groups and bodies have 
lost or been unable to secure a permanent base for 
their activities.  If a permanent Arts Centre was 
established in Redditch it would provide a useful base 
for many of these bodies and would demonstrate that 
the Council and relevant partner organisations are 
committed to and respect the contribution that local arts 
can make to the community. 
 
 

Page 58



 

  

  - 39 - 

 
 
The proposal to review this subject has been made at a 
time when community support for the introduction of an 
Arts Centre is relatively high.  Indeed, for a number of 
years community groups and local arts organisations 
have been campaigning for the introduction of an Arts 
Centre in Redditch.  There is also an established 
website dedicated to campaigning for the introduction of 
an Arts Centre in Redditch (this website can be 
accessed using the following URL address: 
http://redditchartscentre.org.uk/ ).  There is therefore 
evidence that if a review were to be launched of this 
subject scrutiny Members would be enabling the voice 
and concerns of the public in line with one of the key 
national principles of Overview and Scrutiny. 
 
There is always the potential with any review that the 
conclusions reached by a scrutiny group will not 
address the needs and expectations of all interested 
parties.  There is the possibility that a review of this 
subject may raise expectations within the community 
which it may not be possible to address.  A review 
group would need to be mindful of these expectations 
and be prepared to clarify and justify their findings. 
 
I would be particularly keen to Chair a review of this 
subject if it was approved by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  As the former Portfolio Holder for Leisure 
and Tourism (Leisure and Cultural Services) I have 
some background knowledge of this area which I think 
would be useful to the review.  I am also very 
passionate about the arts and the potentially positive 
contribution that the arts can make to people in 
Redditch and would ensure that any review of this 
subject is completed in a thorough manner. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny exercises are permitted to co-
opt individuals with expertise in a particular field.  As a 
member of the Redditch Arts Council and former 
Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Tourism I believe that 
Mr Malcolm Hall would make an invaluable contribution 
to this review as a co-opted member of the group. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



 

  

  - 40 - 

 
Key Objectives 
Please keep to 

SMART objectives 
(Specific, Measurable, 
Achievable, Relevant 

and Timely) 
 
 
 
 

 

 
1)  To investigate the reasons why Redditch currently 

does not have an Arts Centre. 
 This should involve: 
 
• Interviewing relevant officers from the Council’s 

Leisure and Cultural Services Department. 
 
2) To review any existing plans or proposals to 

introduce an Arts Centre in Redditch and any 
barriers facing these proposals. 
This could involve: 
• Interviewing representatives of Redditch Town 

Centre Partnership; and 
• Interviewing representatives of the campaign for 

a Redditch Arts Centre. 
 
3) To scrutinise the changes that have occurred to 

cause the closure or withdrawal of bases for existing 
arts groups and the potential implications, if any, for 
a bespoke Arts Centre in Redditch. 

 
4) To assess the support provided to the arts in other 

parts of the country and to identify practices that 
could be replicated in Redditch. 
This could involve 

• Visiting and interviewing representatives of the Artrix 
and Avoncroft Arts Centre in Bromsgrove. 

• Interviewing bodies that provide financial support to 
the Artrix. 

 
5) To determine the purpose for the Arts Centre and 

which activities it would be appropriate to provide on 
the premises. 

 
6) To identify suitable locations in Redditch Borough 

that could be used as the base for an Arts Centre. 
 
7) To investigate the potential for other Redditch 

Borough Council resources to be made available as 
a base for arts activities. 
This should involve: 

• Considering the potential for the Council’s 
community centres to be utilised for this purpose. 

 
8) To identify appropriate sources of funding that could 

be utilised to support the introduction of an arts 
centre in Redditch. 

Page 60



 

  

  - 41 - 

 
9) To assess the financial implications of any proposed 

actions. 
 

 
How long do you think 
is needed to complete 
this exercise? (Where 

possible please 
estimate the number of 

weeks, months and 
meetings required) 

 

 
This review would require a minimum of six months to 
complete.  To ensure that the review is launched at a 
time when Members and Officers are likely to be 
available I would propose that this review should be 
launched in September 2012 following the summer 
holiday period.  The review would aim to be completed 
by February/March 2012. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

  

  - 42 - 

APPENDIX 2 
Witnesses 

 
The Arts and Culture Centre Task Group would like to thank the following people 
for submitting evidence during the course of the review. 
 
Ms Hazel Hanion (Secretary, Evesham Arts Centre). 
Mr Keith Goddard (Chairman, Number 8). 
Mr Geoff Kearn (General Manager, Avoncroft Arts Society). 
Ms Brenda Killigrew (Managing Director, I.D.C Academy Fashion and Textiles). 
Mr Philip Roberts (representative, Campaign for a Redditch Arts Centre, 
subsequently the Arts in Redditch Network). 
Ms Linda Saunders (Managing Director, The Public). 
Ms Ros Sidaway (Director, Redditch Town Centre Partnership). 
Mr Andy Woods (Director, The Artrix). 
 
The group would also like to thank the following Officers and Councillors for 
providing assistance during the review. 
 
Alasdair Baker (Community Safety Assistant) 
Lyndsey Berry (Planning Officer with lead responsibility for the Redditch Town 
Centre Partnership). 
Jonathan Cochrane (Arts and Events Manager). 
Ray Cooke (Leisure Services Manager). 
James Cooper (Senior Community Safety Project Officer). 
Jonathan Corker (GIS Support Officer). 
Clare Flanagan (Legal Services Manager). 
John Godwin (Head of Leisure and Cultural Services). 
Emma Greenfield (Planning Assistant). 
Councillor Pattie Hill. 
Tim Mackrill (Theatre Manager, Redditch Palace Theatre). 
Paul McLaughlin (Estates Team Leader – North, Property Services). 
Sam Morgan (Financial Services Manager). 
Huw Moseley (Arts Development and Events Officer). 
Neil Perrett (Web Developer). 
Jayne Pickering (Executive Director for Finance and Corporate Resources). 
Amanda Scarce (Democratic Services Officer). 
Heather Wersocki (Property Services). 
 
Members would also like to thank the 359 local residents who took the time to 
complete a copy of the group’s questionnaire.  The feedback provided by local 
residents was invaluable and has informed the group’s final recommendations.

Page 62



 

  

  - 43 - 

 
APPENDIX 3 

Timeline of Activites 
 

 
Date  
 

 
Task Group Activity 

 
3rd October 
2012 
 

 
Scoping discussion. 

 
8th October 
2012 
 

 
Consideration of information about various arts centres in the country. 
 

 
17th October 
2012 
 

 
Interview with Mr Philip Roberts, representative of the Campaign for a 
Redditch Arts Centre. 
 

 
23rd October 
2012 
 

 
Visit to The Artrix, Bromsgrove and Avoncroft Arts Centre, Bromsgrove.   
Interviews with Mr Andy Woods, Director of The Artrix and Mr Geoff Kearn, 
General Manager at the Avoncroft Arts Society. 
 

 
30th October 
2012 
 

 
Visit to The Public, West Bromwich.   
Interview with Ms Linda Saunders, Managing Director of The Public. 
 

 
8th November 
2012 
 

 
Consideration of information provided in writing about Evesham Arts 
Centre.  
Interview with Jayne Pickering, Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Resources. 
Consideration of arrangements for consulting local residents. 
 

 
22nd 
November 
2012 
 

 
Interview with Ms Ros Sidaway, Director of the Redditch Town Centre 
Partnership, and Lyndsey Berry, Planning Officer with lead responsibility 
for the Redditch Town Centre Partnership. 
 

 
27th 
November 
2012 
 

 
Interview with John Godwin, Head of Leisure and Cultural Services, 
Jonathan Cochrane, Arts and Events Manager, and Huw Moseley, Arts 
Development and Events Officer. 
 

28th 
November 
2012 

Visit to the Old Needle Works, Redditch. 
Interview with Ms Brenda Killigrew, Managing Director of I.D.C Academy 
Fashion and Textiles. 

Page 63



 

  

  - 44 - 

 
4th December 
2012 
 

 
Visit to Number 8 Community Arts Centre, Pershore. 
Interview with Mr Keith Goddard, Chairman of Number 8. 
 

 
12th 
December 
2012 
 

 
Review of evidence gathered to date. 
Consideration of arrangements for consulting local arts and cultural groups. 
 

 
15th January 
2013 
 

 
Visit to Redditch Palace Theatre. 
Consideration of feedback provided by residents during public consultation. 
Consideration of existing arts activities in the town. 
 

 
23rd January 
2013 
 

 
Interview with Lyndsey Berry, Planning Officer with lead responsibility for 
the Redditch Town Centre Partnership. 
Further consideration of public consultation feedback. 
Consideration of properties that could be used as a base for an arts centre 
in Redditch. 
Discussion of initial proposals. 
 

 
28th January 
2013 
 

 
Interview with Neil Perrett, Web Developer, and Jonathan Corker, GIS 
Support Officer regarding the potential for a Redditch arts trail. 
Consideration of information about existing venues in the town that could 
be hired by local arts groups. 
 

 
4th February 
2013 
 

 
Consideration of feedback received from local arts groups. 
Reviewing comparable venue hire charges for existing arts centres. 
Discussion of preferred features on a Redditch Arts Map and Arts Trail. 
 

 
11th February 
2013 
 

 
Interview with John Godwin, Head of Leisure and Cultural Services, 
Jonathan Cochrane, Arts and Events Manager, and Ray Cooke, Leisure 
Services Manager. 
Discussion of draft proposals. 
 

 
19th February 
2013 
 

 
Finalisation of the group’s recommendations. 
 

 
11th March 
2013 
 

 
Consideration of the group’s draft report. 
Determining the appropriate contents of the Chair’s presentation to the 
Overview and Scrutiny and Executive Committees. 

Page 64



 

  

  - 45 - 

APPENDIX 4 
Public Consultation Methods 

 
Local residents were provided with access to copies of the group’s questionnaire 
using the following methods: 
 
• Paper copies of the questionnaire were displayed in Redditch Town Hall and 

the One Stop Shops in Batchley, Winyates and Woodrow. 
 

• Copies of the questionnaire were distributed to customers of B&Q Redditch 
by the B&Q Community Liaison Officer, Councillor P Hill. 

 
• Elected Members distributed copies of the questionnaires to local residents at 

a number of Partners and Community Together (PACT) meetings in the town. 
 
• A copy of the questionnaire was made available for residents to complete 

online on the Overview and Scrutiny web pages of Redditch Borough 
Council’s website.  Unfortunately there was a technical problem with the first 
questionnaires that were submitted online which impacted on the feedback.  
However, only a small number of responses were affected and there were no 
significant statistical implications to the outcome of the feedback from local 
residents. 
 

• Council staff, who are also Redditch residents, were invited to submit 
completed copies of the questionnaire using the Council’s intranet system. 

 
• Copies of the questionnaire, together with a brief description of the review, 

were sent to approximately 220 local residents who had agreed to be 
consulted by the Council during road show events in the Borough. 

 
• Councillor Clayton distributed copies of the questionnaire during a meeting of 

Feckenham Parish Council. 
 

• Paper copies of the questionnaire were distributed amongst residents who 
attended the following Christmas carol concerts in the town: 

 
- Church Hill Carol Concert (5th December 2012); 
- Winyates Carol Concert (6th December 2012); 
- Matchborough Carol Concert (7th December 2012); 
- Town Centre Carol Concert (10th December 2012); and 
- Woodrow Carol Concert (13th December 2012). 

 
The consultation exercise was reported in both the Redditch Advertiser and the 
Redditch Standard. 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

  

  - 46 - 

 
APPENDIX 5 

Arts Activities in Redditch 
 

During the review Members undertook research to identify the current availability in the 
Borough of the activities that residents had suggested should be made available at an 
arts and culture centre.  This was not intended to be an exhaustive list but, rather, to 
enable Members to identify the current level of arts provision in the town and the extent 
to which this meets residents’ demands. 
 
Main 
Category Title 

Sub-title Current Availability 

Art  There are a number of art groups in Redditch 
including the Redditch Art Circle, which meets at St 
Luke’s Memorial Hall.  The group organises 
exhibitions of members’ work, field trips and talks and 
demonstrations from experienced / professional 
artists.  
The Old Needle Works, in Britten Street provides 
some arts and crafts courses and workshops to 
interested local residents. 

 Acrylics Residents interested in painting can join the Redditch 
Art Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Animal 
drawing 

Residents interested in drawing can join the Redditch 
Art Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Art and Craft 
day 

The Old Needle Works in Britten Street regularly host 
arts and craft fairs.  

 Art Courses / 
workshops 

The Old Needle Works, in Britten Street provides 
some arts courses and workshops to interested local 
residents. 

 Art design Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
The Old Needle Works, in Britten Street provides 
come arts and crafts courses and workshops to 
interested local residents. 

 Art 
Exhibitions 

Exhibitions are currently in place, or appear on 
occasion at: Arrow Valley Countryside Centre; the 
Kingfisher Shopping Centre (temporary exhibitions 
organised by Redditch Art Circle); the Redditch Art 
and Heritage Gallery (at Millsborough House); AiR 
Partnership Website (online); Redditch Library 
(temporary exhibitions); the Old Needle Works; and 
Walter Stranz Café (exhibitions of local art groups’ 
work). 
 

Page 66



 

  

  - 47 - 

 Arts Facilities There are arts facilities at NEW College and at local 
schools.   

 Art Lectures The Redditch Art Circle organises talks from 
professional / established artists. 

 Art History The Redditch Art Circle organises talks from 
professional / established artists. 

 Art School NEW College provides drawing and mixed media and 
drawing for beginners courses (evening and day 
times). 

 Chalk 
drawing 

Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 
 

 Charcoal 
drawing 

Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Country art Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Drawing Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
NEW College provides drawing and mixed media and 
drawing for beginners courses (evening and day 
times).  

 Finger 
painting 

It was not possible at the time of writing to identify 
specific opportunities available for Redditch residents 
to participate in finger painting, though articles in the 
local press indicate that local school children do 
participate in finger painting from time to time. 

 Graffiti / 
street art / 
spray paint 

Redditch Roadway Arts has involved young people 
and local artists in producing graffiti-style artwork on 
bus shelters, shop shutters and subways throughout 
the town. 

 Media Art / 
courses 

Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Modern art / 
abstract art 

Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Oil painting Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

Page 67



 

  

  - 48 - 

 Older Art A number of artistic pieces, including heritage items 
and “older” pieces of artwork, can be viewed on 
display at Forge Mill Needle Museum. 

 Painting Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Pastel Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

 Sculpture Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 
There are also a number of sculptures as pieces of 
public art in the town including: the Bartleet Fountain 
in the town centre; the interactive sculpture in the 
Arrow Valley Park; Holocaust Memorial in St 
Stephen’s churchyard; the Parish war memorial in st 
Stephen’s churchyard; and the Peace Memorial 
located on Plymouth Road. 

 Sketching Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are provided at NEW 
College. 

 Tattooist Art 
showcase 

The following tattoo artists advertise in Redditch: 
Redditch Tattoo Studio (Mount Pleasant); Skill in Skin 
(Millsborough House) and Mad Malcs (Winyates 
Centre).  No mention is made of a tattoo showcase. 
Redditch Roadway Arts work on subways was 
partially inspired by tattoo art.  The artwork in the 
subway on Alcester Street is intended to be 
representative of tattoo art and to celebrate the 
town’s needle heritage. 

 Visual Arts 
Studio 

Students studying art related subjects at NEW 
College have access to a visual arts studio. 
Space is available at the Old Needle Works for artists 
/ businessmen to hire. 

 Watercolour 
painting 

Residents interested in art can join the Redditch Art 
Circle. 
A number of arts course are also provided at NEW 
College. 

Children’s / 
Youth 
Activities 

 There are a large variety of children’s and youth 
activities in the Borough.  Further detail about these 
activities can be obtained from the Youth Provision 
Task Group’s final report (April 2012).   
 

Page 68



 

  

  - 49 - 

 Activities to 
reduce youth 
crime 

There are a number of activities in place in Redditch 
that aim to reduce youth related crime and anti-social 
behaviour.  For more information please refer to the 
final report produced by the Youth Services Provision 
Task Group. 

 Children’s 
Activities 

There are a number of activities available which 
provide opportunities for children to participate in the 
arts.  In particular please refer to details provided in 
relation to drama activities and music activities below. 

 Children’s 
concerts 

Worcestershire Youth Music organise music 
opportunities for young people in the string orchestra, 
wind band, recorder orchestra, choir, music theory 
classes and instrumental classes.  The Redditch 
branch, Redditch Area Music Centre, meets at St 
Bede’s Middle School on Monday evenings. 
(For further information about opportunities for young 
people to participate in musical activities please refer 
to the music section below). 

 Creative 
activities / 
messy play 

Messy play activities are available in Redditch at 
Oakhill First School and at the Sure Start Children’s 
centres which are located throughout the Borough. 

 Educational 
activities / 
links to 
schools 

There are a number of educational activities available 
to young people in Redditch with links between youth 
groups, arts bodies and local schools.  For further 
information please refer to the final report produced 
by the Youth Services Provision Task Group. 

 Games room Family Game Sessions take place regularly at 
Woodrow Library. 

 School 
Holiday 
Sessions 

A variety of school holiday sessions are provided to 
children and teenagers by the Council’s Leisure 
Services team during the school holidays.  This 
includes holiday club sessions and sport coaching 
sessions. 

 Youth clubs There are a number of established youth clubs, 
including The Ditch which meets at Oakenshaw 
Community Centre.   

 Youth 
Theatre 

There is the Palace Youth Theatre, with different 
groups for different age ranges, which stages regular 
shows and provides workshops.   
Vocalize Performing Arts has a youth theatre which 
performs at the Palace Theatre. 

Craft  The Redditch Craft Club meets in Beoley Village Hall. 
The Old Needle Works Craft Centre provides 
opportunities for local artists and crafts people to sell 
their produce as well as opportunities for local 
residents to participate in some arts and crafts 
workshops. 
 

Page 69



 

  

  - 50 - 

 Card making The Redditch Craft Group organises various craft 
classes. 

 Collages  Children can get involved in producing collages at 
school in Redditch. 
There are also opportunities to get involved in making 
collages through groups such as the Girls Brigade. 
 

 Creative 
activities 

There are a number of creative activities available 
within Redditch as detailed in the rest of this 
document. 

 Craft course The Old Needle Works is the base for a number of 
craft courses. 
The Redditch Craft Club organises various craft 
classes. 

 Craft fair Craft fairs are regularly held at the Old Needle Works 
on Britten Street. 

 Glass making At the time of writing it was not possible to identify 
any opportunities to participate in glass making in 
Redditch. 

 Jewellery 
making 

The Old Needle Works provides workshops and 
courses in jewellery making to interested residents. 

 Model 
making 

At the time of writing it was not possible to identify 
specific model making opportunities in Redditch. 

 Painting fimo 
clay 

At the time of writing information could not be 
obtained about specific opportunities to participate in 
fimo clay painting. 

 Paper craft The Redditch Craft Club organises various craft 
classes. 

 Pottery NEW College offer pottery courses to interested 
residents for a period of ten weeks. 

 Scrapbook 
making 

The Redditch Craft Club has organised scrap book 
making activities in the past. 

 Woodwork At the time of writing specific woodwork hobby groups 
/ opportunities in Redditch could not be identified. 

Dance  Residents can participate in Deputy Dog dancing at 
the Palace Theatre and Oakenshaw Community 
Centre. 
Line dancing sessions take place regularly at 
Oakenshaw Community Centre and Batchley 
Community Centre which are organised by Action 
Sport. 
A tea dance takes place in Oakenshaw Community 
Centre on a regular basis. 
The Gemini Dance studio provides members with an 
opportunity to practice various different types of 
dancing.  Sessions are mainly held in the evenings, 
though private tuition can be organised.   
Lucy Jane’s School of dance has branches in the 

Page 70



 

  

  - 51 - 

following locations: Astwood Bank; Church Hill; 
Matchborough; and Webheath.  Ballet, tap, jazz 
freestyle, riverdance and street dance are available to 
all age groups. 
The Razzle’n’dazzle (RND) Academy of Dance 
provides dance classes at St John’s the Evangelist 
Church Hall, Greenlands.  Classes are offered in tap, 
ballet and freestyle. 
Stagecoach Theatre Arts School provides pupils 
aged 6 – 18 with an opportunity to learn different 
dance styles. 
The Starlight School of Dance teaches a variety of 
dance techniques at the Windmill Centre and 
Winyates Green Meeting Rooms.  The company 
offers, ballet, modern jazz, theatrecraft, freestyle/hip 
hop/street dance and tap. 
Vocalize Performing Arts Academy, which meets at 
Arrow Vale Theatre, provides members with an 
opportunity to participate in various forms of dance.   
Dancefest, is the dance development agency for 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire.  Dancefest runs a 
year round programme that includes classes, projects 
and performances, including classes for all ages and 
abilities.  Redditch residents would have to travel 
outside the Borough to participate. 
Spill a Playground of Dance events were held in 
Redditch during 2012.  These were dance 
performances which used children’s playground 
elements as dance props. 

 Ballet Ballet dancing opportunities are available from Lucy 
Jane’s School of Dance, Razzle’n’dazzle’s Academy 
of Dance, the Starlight School of Dance and the 
Gemini Dance studio. 

 Ballroom 
dancing 

Gemini Dance Studio provide classes in ballroom 
dancing. 
Sequence and Ballroom Dancing sessions used to be 
provided by Age UK at the Community House on 
Easemore Road in 2010 (more up to date information 
could not be secured at the time of writing). 

 Break 
dancing 

Gemini Dance Studio provides classes in break 
dancing. 

 Cheerleading The Evesham All Starz Gymnastics and 
Cheerleading was the closest such group to Redditch 
that could be identified at the time of writing. 

 Dance 
lessons 

Dance lessons are available from a number of groups 
and organisations in a variety of disciplines as 
detailed above. 
 

Page 71



 

  

  - 52 - 

Drama / 
performing 
arts 

 There are a variety of opportunities available for both 
adults and children to participate in drama and 
amateur dramatic productions as detailed below. 

 Amateur 
dramatics 

A drama group for young people (aged 10 – 15 
years) has been set up at Woodrow Library. 
A number of local drama and operatics groups 
perform at Redditch Palace Theatre every year. 
Residents can join the following amateur 
dramatics/musical production groups:  Astwood Bank 
Operatics Society; the Harlequins Drama Company 
(for children and young people aged 8 – 19); Indigo 
Arts; the Palace Youth Theatre;  Redditch Amateur 
Theatre Society (RATS); Redditch Operatics Society; 
Stagecoach Theatre Arts School (for children aged 6 
– 18 years); and Vocalize Performing Arts Academy. 

 Comedy Professional comedians perform at the Palace 
Theatre. Amateur comedians have performed at 
Laughter by the Lake at the Arrow Valley Countryside 
Centre and are due to perform in the Palace Theatre 
in 2013 for Sit Down Stand-Up comedy. 
A six week comedy workshop is due to start in 2013 
at the Palace Theatre for aspiring local comedians. 

 Drama 
classes 

Jestaminute Community Theatre work on interactive 
forms of theatre and drama techniques in an 
educational and community setting.   
Vocalize Performing Arts Academy provides 
opportunities for residents to participate in weekly 
skills workshops in drama. 
Stagecoach Theatre Arts School provide students 
with drama training. 
Members of Indigo Arts receive drama coaching and 
experience during performances. 

 Drama 
presentations 

No specific information could be identified at the time 
of writing on the subject of “drama presentations”. 

 Lighting 
classes 

At the time of writing information could not be 
obtained about any lighting classes in Redditch. 

 Mime art No information could be found about current mime art 
opportunities in Redditch. 

 Performing 
arts 

Redditch Operatics Society meets regularly for 
rehearsals and holds performances at the Palace 
Theatre during the year. 
Astwood Bank Operatics Society meets at the 
Methodist Hall, Astwood Bank.  The group delivers 
performances at the Palace Theatre each year.  
Vocalize Performing Arts Academy provides 
opportunities for residents to participate in weekly 
skills workshops in performing arts. 
Indigo Arts, the Harlequin’s Drama Company, 

Page 72



 

  

  - 53 - 

Stagecoach Theatre Arts School and the Palace 
Youth Theatre all provide young people with an 
opportunity to participate in the performing arts. 
Members of Redditch Amateur Theatre Society 
(RATS) are able to participate in shows produced by 
the group. 

 Stage 
practice 
space/ 
rehearsal 
space / 
drama 
studios 

Amateur dramatics groups currently use a variety of 
venues as stage space, rehearsal space and as 
drama studio space.  This includes the following 
venues: Redditch Palace Theatre; St Luke’s 
Memorial Hall; Arrow Vale Theatre; and Kingsley 
College. 

 Talent shows Birchensale Middle School holds an annual talent 
show. 
Various talent shows were advertised as having 
taken place in the past at a number of pubs 
throughout the Borough. 

 Theatre / 
plays 

Professional productions take place regularly in both 
the main auditorium and in the Room Upstairs at the 
Palace Theatre. 
Street theatre took place in Redditch town centre on 
a number of occasions in 2012. 
The Starlight School of Dance provides students with 
an opportunity to participate in musical theatre. 

Literary   
 Books / Book 

Club 
Soroptimist International has a book club branch for 
Bromsgrove and Redditch. 
The following book groups provide residents with 
reading opportunities: Coolreadz.com (book club at 
Redditch Library for children aged 9 – 14 years); 
Redditch Library Readers Group; Saturday Story 
Time, (for children aged 2 – 7 years, meet at 
Redditch Library); and Write / Read Reading Group 
(for 6 – 16 year olds), meet at Woodrow Library. 
Redditch residents can access books at Redditch 
Library, Woodrow Library and book shops located in 
the town. 
Creative Writing Classes are held at the Sandycroft 
Centre on a regular basis. 

 Poetry Redditch Library Poetry Group, meet on a monthly 
basis. 

 Storytelling Rhythm and Rhyme Story Session (for children, 
Woodrow Library). 
Readings from famous books / tales have taken place 
at the Palace Theatre.  In 2013 the ghost stories by 
Edgar Allen Poe are due to be read / performed in the 
Room Upstairs. 

Page 73



 

  

  - 54 - 

 Talks by 
writers 

At the time of writing no information could be 
identified on the subject of talks delivered by writers 
in Redditch. 

 Writing 
classes 

A Creative Writing Group regularly meets in Catshill 
Bromsgrove (the closest such group that could be 
identified). 

 Written and 
spoken word 
events 

Readings from famous books / tales have taken place 
at the Palace Theatre.  In 2013 the ghost stories from 
Edgar Allen Poe are due to be read / performed in the 
Room Upstairs. 

Music   
 

 Choir The Arrow Vale Singers, a mixed singing group, 
perform a variety, from opera to pop, though primarily 
choir music.  The group meets at Batchley 
Community Centre.   
Vocalize Performing Arts Academy runs an Adult 
Show Choir for people aged 16 years and older. 
The Redditch Choral Society meets regularly at 
Crabbs Cross Methodist Church for rehearsals. 
Redditch Community Gospel Choir meets at the RSA 
Academy at Arrow Vale. 

 DJ 
Workshops 

The Batchley Support Group has provided taster DJ 
workshop sessions in previous years.   
No further information could be obtained about 
current DJ workshop opportunities, if any, in 
Redditch. 

 Folk music Redditch Renegades Folk Club meet regularly. 
Folk musicians have performed at the Palace 
Theatre.  A number of folk music bands are also 
scheduled to perform at the Palace Theatre in 2013. 

 Music 
Classes 

The Bridge Expressive Arts Project provides music 
lessons, primarily to children and young people, at 
reduced rates.  Sessions are delivered at St Luke’s 
Memorial Hall. 
Indigo Arts provides workshop sessions via 
“Musicmaker” workshops (for young people aged 7 -
11 and 12 – 25) and “minimusic” sessions ( for 
children aged 4 – 6).  
Vocalize Performing Arts Academy provides a Rock 
Academy opportunity to young people as well as a 
guitar workshop to children and young people. 

 Music 
facilities 

There are some music facilities available for acts to 
use at the Palace Theatre.  It is difficult to determine 
to what extent local venues are meeting all of the 
musical needs of local groups without more specific 
information being provided. 
A planning application was recently submitted to 

Page 74



 

  

  - 55 - 

open a live bistro and music tuition centre on Church 
Green East.  The approval of this application on 28th 
November 2012 may lead to an increase in music 
facilities and tuition available to local residents, 
particularly children. 

 Music / live 
band 
performances 

Redditch Battle of the Bands, organises an annual 
music competition in Redditch.  Musicians / band 
members are required to be aged under 25 on the 
date of the final.  There is a Myspace page 
supporting the initiative. 
Local bands have an opportunity to perform during 
Morton Stanley Festival, which has tended to take 
place in August each year. 
Professional musicians and tribute bands regularly 
perform at the Palace Theatre. 
Live music performances occur regularly at 
Woodland Cottage, Mount Pleasant and at the 
Queen’s Head public house in the town centre. 

 Music 
performance 
opportunities 

Redditch Music Society organises concerts 
throughout the year.  These concerts, often for 
classical music, take place in the evening at the 
Ecumenical Centre. 
Redditch Battle of the Bands, organises an annual 
music competition in Redditch.  Local bands also 
have an opportunity to perform every year during 
Morton Stanley Festival, which generally takes place 
in August each year. 

 Rap music Stagecoach Theatre Art School provides students 
with an opportunity to learn and perform rap music. 

 Singing The Bel Canto singers are an established group 
which meets in the Continental Club on Monday 
evenings.   
Indigo Arts, provides young people with an 
opportunity to sing and perform music.   
Indigo Arts is in the process of setting up a singing 
group for people aged 25 years or more. 
The Redditch Choral Society meets on most 
Wednesday evenings at Crabbs Cross Methodist 
Church for rehearsals. 
Vocalize Performing Arts Academy provides 
opportunities for members to perform in singing 
activities. 
Pupils at the Stagecoach Theatre Arts School can 
participate in singing activities. 

 Singing 
lessons 

Vocalize Performing Arts Academy provides 
members with an opportunity to participate in singing 
workshops as well as offering private tuition. 
Stagecoach Theatre Arts School provides students 

Page 75



 

  

  - 56 - 

with an opportunity to attend singing classes. 
Needle Work  The Old Needleworks Craft Centre, on Britten Street, 

provides workshops in a variety of fashion and design 
disciplines.  Students of art and design can also gain 
work experience at the Inkberrow Design Centre 
which has a branch at the Old Needle Works. 

 Crochet The Inkberrow Design Centre, based in the Old 
Needle Works, provides courses in various forms of 
sewing, design and millinery work. 

 Cross-stitch The Inkberrow Design Centre, based in the Old 
Needle Works, provides courses in various forms of 
sewing, design and millinery work. 

 Dress making The Inkberrow Design Centre, based in the Old 
Needle Works, provides courses in various forms of 
sewing, design and millinery work. 

 Embroidery The Inkberrow Design Centre, based in the Old 
Needle Works, provides courses in various forms of 
sewing, design and millinery work. 

 Fashion 
shows 

The Old Needle Work Craft Centre has organised 
Fashion shows in co-operation with the Redditch 
Town Centre Partnership in recent years. 

 Hat making The Old Needle works provides workshops and 
course in hat making and millinery to a professional 
level. 

 Knitting The Knitting Circle regularly meets at Redditch 
Library. 

 Patchwork The Old Needle works provides course in patchwork 
and quilting. 

 Quilt making Kingfisher Quilters meet regularly at St Luke’s 
Memorial Hall, Headless Cross. 
The Old Needle works provides course in patchwork 
and quilting. 

 Tapestry 
making 

At the time of writing it was not possible to identify 
any courses / group activities in tapestry making in 
Redditch. 

Photography   The Redditch Photographic Society meets at St 
Luke’s Memorial Hall, Headless Cross.  
The Webheath Digital Photography Society meets at 
Webheath Village Hall. 

 Film Apollo Cinema (soon to be Vue) in the Kingfisher 
Shopping Centre (broadcasts blockbuster films and 
live screenings of operatic and ballet performances 
from London). 
FeckenOdeon, (screens independent films in 
Feckenham Village Hall).  
Redditch Movie Club meets regularly at Woodrow 
Library. 

 Film making A Redditch Film Roadshow was organised to take 

Page 76



 

  

  - 57 - 

clubs place at the Palace Theatre in July 2012. 
 Photography 

classes 
Members of the Redditch Photographic Society can 
participate in photography workshops. 
Photography activities and workshops are available 
at the Old Needle Works. 

 Photography 
studio 

There are lots of private photography studios in 
Redditch including one of the leading glamour 
photography studios in the country. 

Sport  Residents can participate in sports at a wide variety 
of venues in the town including the following Council 
venues: the Abbey Stadium; Arrow Vale Sports 
Centre; Pitcheroak Golf Course; and Kingsley Sports 
Centre.  There are also numerous privately owned 
gyms in the town. 

 Aerobics and 
exercise 
classes 

There are numerous aerobics and keep fit 
opportunities in Redditch including: Legs, Bums and 
Tums, (Batchley  Community Centre) and Pilates 
sessions, (Christ Church, Matchborough).  
The following classes are held at the Abbey Stadium: 
body balance; body pump; body sculpit; kettlersize; 
RPM/Studio cycling; aquafit; body combat; body 
attack; body step; Fat Burn Friday; Springs 
Challenge; Zumba; Body Jam; Sh’bam; pom pom; 
and street dance.  Bespoke sports classes are also 
provided for adults, children and people with 
disabilities. 

 Boxing Box fit classes are available at the Abbey Stadium. 
The Viking Boxing Fitness Club is based in Lakeside 
Industrial Estate, Redditch. 
Winspers Gym, Millsborough House, provides 
members with an opportunity to participate in 
Kickboxing. 
Amateur boxing matches have taken place at the 
Abbey Stadium in the past.  The Redditch Box Cup 
was held for the first time in December 2012. 
There is a Redditch Community Amateur Boxing 
Club. 

 Boys sport There are a huge number of opportunities for 
children, including boys, to participate in sporting 
activities in the town at above venues and in sports 
clubs. 

 Chess There is a Redditch Chess Club, which meets at the 
Redditch Trades and Labour Club, Bromsgrove 
Road. 

 Croquet The closest croquet clubs to Redditch are situated in 
Birmingham and Solihull. 

 Gymnastics Redditch Flics runs gymnastics sessions at the Arrow 
Vale Sports Centre for junior groups and adult 

Page 77



 

  

  - 58 - 

groups.   
 Health 

Fitness 
(See also aerobics above). 
Residents can join clubs that will provide an 
opportunity to participate in healthy activities. This 
includes the Redditch Road and Path Cycling Club 
and the Arrow Valley Countryside Group which 
organises regular walks around the lake. 
A number of healthy activities have also been 
delivered over the past year in Winyates as part of 
the Area of Highest Needs project. 

 Indoor sports 
/ Bmx park 

There is an outdoors Redditch Skate BMX track on 
Icknield Street Drive, Arrow Valley Country Park. 

 Judo No Judo club could be found for Redditch at the time 
of writing.  There is a Judo Club in Droitwich Spa. 

 Karate The Redditch Karate group meets at Ryegrass Lane, 
Walkwood, School Theatre. 

 Martial arts Krav Maga (self-defence martial art) is held at St 
Augustine’s Sports Centre. 
Worcestershire Wing Chun Kuen martial art takes 
place regularly at Woodfield Middle School.   
The Yawara Kwai group teaches Ju-Jitsu at 
Webheath Village Hall to both children and adults. 

 Sport Information about the variety of sporting activities 
available in Redditch are provided throughout this 
section. 

 Tai chi A Tai Chi group meets regularly at the Windmill 
Community Centre. 

 Yoga Residents can participate in yoga sessions at the 
Abbey Stadium. 

Miscellaneous   
 Birthday 

parties / 
functions 

There are a variety of venues at which birthday 
parties can take place at the moment in Redditch 
including: the Arrow Valley Countryside Centre; 
Redditch Town Hall (civic suite); the Community 
Centres; and local hotels. 

 cafe There is a bar at the Palace Theatre and a café at the 
Old Needle Works Craft Centre.   
There are also numerous coffee shops in Redditch, 
including Café Nero, Costa Coffee, Debenhams (X2), 
Marks and Spencers, BHS, Muffin Break; and 
Druckers. 

 Cake 
decorating 

Basic cake decorating and novelty cake classes are 
provided by NEW College. 

 Charity use The Palace Theatre offers discount rates to charitable 
groups for hiring theatre facilities; the Community 
Centres are available to hire at concessionary rates. 

 Coin and 
stamp fairs 

The Redditch Philatelic Society meets twice a month 
at St Luke’s Memorial Hall. 

Page 78



 

  

  - 59 - 

 Cooking Pizza making activity weekends, provided by Chilly 
Sauce, are available to Redditch residents. 

 Community 
events 

Numerous community events are held in Redditch 
throughout the year including: Morton Stanley 
Festival; Astwood Bank Carnival; Bonfire night (Arrow 
Valley Park); Caribbean Fun Day; Christmas lights 
switch on; Feckenham Scarecrow Festival; Holocaust 
Memorial Event; and the Redditch Bandstand 
Festival. 

 Community 
radio station 

Radio Redditch has submitted an application to 
OFCOM to broadcast in the Borough.  If the 
application is successful the radio station is aiming to 
start broadcasting in 2014. 
Kingfisher FM has in the past broadcast in Redditch 
under a restricted service license. 

 Cosmetics 
making 

Faces Unlimited, which has won awards, runs 
workshops for face painting, accident simulation 
techniques and children’s face painting. 
Beauty Therapy courses are offered by NEW 
College. 

 Crèche There are numerous nurseries and crèches already 
established in Redditch.   

 Ethnic 
minority 
cultural 
events / 
shows 

Caribbean Roots Connection provides supplementary 
education to young people aged 5 – 25 and promotes 
the arts and cultural heritage relating to various 
aspects of Jamaican art.  Activities provided include 
music, dance and singing.  These activities are 
mainly held at the Child and Youth Centre on West 
Avenue. 
Talking Drums is a community group that celebrates 
black history and culture.  Activities include: dance; 
food; jewellery making; identity shaping; and creative 
hip hop workshops. 
Redditch Chinese Association arranges a number of 
activities each year, including annual Chinese New 
Year celebrations. 

 Fly dressing There is already a fly dressing group in Redditch, 
(according to the one resident who proposed a 
display of fly dressing).  Forge Mill Needle Museum 
organises temporary exhibitions and this has included 
exhibitions of needles and fishing hooks linked to the 
town’s heritage. 

 History The Redditch History Society meets every month at 
Forge Mill.  The society is in the process of co-
ordinating a project remembering features of the past 
in Redditch that were lost following the introduction of 
the new town. 
The Redditch History and Heritage group meets twice 

Page 79



 

  

  - 60 - 

a month at Millsborough House.  
 IT / computer 

courses / 
internet 
access 

IT sessions are provided to different age groups at 
Woodrow Library.   
The North East Worcestershire Linux User Group 
meets every month at the Royal Enfield. 

 Languages Redditch residents have an opportunity to learn 
languages at school and at NEW College.   
The Redditch Language Club (for beginners) meets 
regularly at Woodrow Library. 

 Life skill 
classes 

Life skills courses have been available from NEW 
College in the past. 

 Maths 
education 

Redditch residents can undertake maths and 
numeracy courses with the Redditch Learning Online 
Centre.   

 Model Train 
exhibitions 

There is a Redditch Model Railway Club, which held 
a model railway exhibition at Trinity High School in 
2012. 

 Museums There is already Forge Mill Needle Museum in 
Redditch, which celebrates various aspects of 
Redditch history. 

 Needle 
Museum 

There is already Forge Mill Needle Museum in 
Redditch. 
 

 Needles and 
Fishing 
industry 

The town’s needle and fishing heritage is celebrated 
by Forge Mill Needle Museum. 
 

 Programme 
of events 

Many of the arts groups and venues in Redditch 
already maintain their own programmes.   
Worcestershire County Council also produces a 
regular newsletter which promotes meetings of 
various local groups in the town (Happening - 
Redditch and Bromsgrove). 

 Science The Mad Science club was recently established at 
Redditch Library for children aged 4 – 12 years. 

 Technical 
equipment 

Different types of technical equipment are available at 
a variety of venues such as Forge Mill Needle 
Museum, the Old Needle Works and the Palace 
Theatre.  Further specification is required to identify 
whether the specific needs of different local art 
groups are currently being met. 

 Tuck shop There is a bar at the Palace Theatre and a café at the 
Old Needle Works.  However no tuck shops had been 
identified by the time of writing. 

 Whist Whist Drive group meetings are organised by the 
Astwood Bank Club and take place in Astwood Bank. 

 Wildlife 
information 

Worcestershire Nature Trust meets on a regular basis 
at the Winyates Green Community Centre. 

Page 80



 

  

  - 61 - 

 Workshops / 
courses 

There are a variety of arts and crafts workshops 
available in Redditch, as detailed in relation to 
specific activities above. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



 

  

  - 62 - 

APPENDIX 6 
Background Papers and Website Sources 

 
Documents 
 
‘The Arts Centre Evesham: Governance, Management and Use’, Evesham Arts 
Centre (2012). 
‘Arts Development UK Local Authority Arts Funding Survey 2012’, Arts 
Development UK (2012). 
‘Constitution of the Redditch Arts Centre’, AiR Partnership. 
‘Directors Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2011’, 
Bromsgrove Arts Centre Trust (2011). 
‘Evesham Arts Association Constitution’, Evesham Arts Centre. 
‘Happening – Redditch and Bromsgrove’, Worcestershire County Council. 
‘How to Apply’, Arts Council England guide to submitting a funding application. 
(2010). 
Inkberrow Design Centre (IDC), Prospectus. 
‘Portas Pilot Town II Bid Proposal, Redditch Town Centre Partnership’ (June 
2012). 
Redditch Palace Theatre Spring Season 2013 programme. 
‘Room Hire at Salisbury Arts Centre’, Salisbury Arts Centre (2012). 
‘Room Hire Information’, Stamford Arts Centre (April 2012). 
 
Websites 
 
AiR Partnership website (viewed on multiple occasions October 2012 – March 
2013). 
The Artrix website, (viewed October 2012). 
Avoncroft Arts Society website, (viewed October 2012). 
Bromsgrove Arts Alive (BAA) website, (viewed October 2012). 
Forge Mill Needle Museum website (viewed December 2012). 
Evesham Arts Centre Website, (viewed October 2012). 
Jinney Ring Craft Centre website (viewed October 2012). 
Leamington Spa Arts Trail Map (viewed November 2012). 
Letchworth arts Centre website, room hire web pages (viewed February 2013). 
Number 8 Community Arts Centre website (viewed October 2012). 
The Old Needle Works, Facebook site, (viewed October 2012). 
Paisley Arts centre and Museum website, venue hire costs web pages, (viewed 
February 2013). 
The Public website (viewed October 2012). 
Redditch Arts Centre, the website for the Campaign for a Redditch Arts Centre 
(viewed on multiple occasions October 2012 – March 2013.  This website was 
decommissioned in March 2013). 
Redditch Borough Council, Leisure Services web pages (viewed January 2013). 
Redditch Palace Theatre website (viewed on multiple occasions October 2012 – 
March 2013). 
South Telford Heritage Trail, (viewed November 2012). 

Page 82



 
�

 

 

���������	
Committee 

  

 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 
 

 

 Chair 
 

 

MINUTES Present: 
  

Councillor Bill Hartnett (Chair), Councillor Greg Chance (Vice-Chair) and 
Councillors Rebecca Blake, Carole Gandy, Phil Mould, Mark Shurmer, 
Luke Stephens and Debbie Taylor 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Councillors Andrew Brazier, Alan Mason, Brenda Quinney and Derek 
Taylor and Ms Ros Sidaway (Director, Redditch Town Centre 
Partnership)  
 

 Officers: 
 

 E Baker, R Bamford, M Craggs, C Flanagan, D Hancox, S Hanley, C 
John, T Kristunas, B Talbot and A de Warr 
 

 Committee Services Officer: 
 

 I Westmore 
 

 
162. APOLOGIES  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

163. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

164. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Leader advised that the following items of business had not 
originally been scheduled to be considered at this meeting of the 
Committee: 
 

• Item 6 – Redditch Growth and Local Plan No.4 Public 
Consultation; and 

• Item 9 – Local Welfare Assistance. 
 

165. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED that 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 8Page 83



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
 
the minutes of the meetings of the Executive Committee held 
on 12th and 18th February 2013 be confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 

166. REDDITCH MARKET TASK GROUP - FINAL REPORT  
 
The Committee received the final report of the Redditch Market 
Task Group and members of that Group, Councillors Andrew 
Brazier, Alan Mason, Brenda Quinney and Derek Taylor, attended, 
along with Ros Sidaway, the Director of Redditch Town Centre 
Partnership, to present their findings. 
 
The background to the review was a perception that the market was 
in a gradual decline with a steady decrease in the numbers of 
traders and the range of goods available. The Group had travelled 
around the region to see what was working well elsewhere and 
what might be successfully adopted in Redditch. Consultation had 
also been undertaken with traders, customers and the public more 
generally and, as a consequence, the Group had come to a number 
of conclusions. 
 
It was asserted that markets could succeed if they were of sufficient 
quality but they needed to offer a wide selection of quality goods 
that weren’t readily available elsewhere and additional attractions 
such as entertainment and catering. It was also suggested that they 
might provide an opportunity for the promotion of local businesses, 
groups and causes and for the development of entrepreneurial and 
retails skills amongst young people or those seeking employment. 
More specific recommendations focussed on such matters as the 
adverse impact on the market of charity street fundraisers and 
means of mitigating their effect. 
 
Members welcomed the report and commended the Group for their 
effort and enthusiasm. There was broad agreement with the thrust 
of the recommendations, that a new strategy should be adopted 
and a means put in place for taking these recommendations 
forward. A number of quick wins were identified amongst the 
recommendations but it was suggested that the Group might have 
considered more bold and radical options. It was accepted that the 
Council might not be the most suitable party to effect these changes 
and it was proposed that all options be considered to secure the 
future success of the market. In lieu of establishing a working group 
as recommended by the Task Group it was instead suggested that 
the Portfolio Holder take these proposals forward in the first 
instance with Officers to establish at the outset the most effective 
delivery method for a viable and vibrant market. 
 

Page 84



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
RESOLVED that, subject to the Portfolio Holder taking the lead 
on working on the detail of proposals and on the adoption of a 
bold and radical approach to recommendations 1 and 2 in 
particular, including a full assessment of the options for 
delivering a vibrant and viable market, 
 
1) a new strategy for the market be developed which clearly 

sets out how the market can be revitalised over the next 
five year period; 

 
2) a small core working group consisting of local 

stakeholders should be created to help develop and 
implement the new strategy. 

 
3) the number of general retail market operating days 

should be reduced to no more than three days a week. 
The working group to consult with existing regular 
traders about which particular days should be retained; 

 
4) consideration is given to holding more speciality 

markets to take place on non general retail market 
operating days on a regular basis to help create a niche 
for the Redditch market. The working group to consider 
how such markets would be managed within the 
available resources; 

 
5) the market working group considers the feasibility of 

introducing an on-site Redditch Market information 
point; 

 
Chapter 2 – Operational Issues 
 
6) the market working group considers the feasibility of 

market customers being provided with an opportunity to 
pay the traders for goods through their mobile phone 
and debit and credit card payment facilities; 

 
7) each trader is required to possess a returns policy which 

should be clearly advertised; 
 
Chapter 3 – Engaging with the Local Community 
 
8) the working group facilitates further opportunities for 

local people, especially students and the unemployed, to 
obtain business experience through operating stalls in 
the market place at no charge on a short-term basis, to 
include the introduction of a new mentoring scheme to 
offer help and assistance to new traders; 

 

Page 85



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
9) the working group facilitates further opportunities for 

local businesses to showcase their goods and services 
on market stalls; 

 
10) the working group facilitates the allocation of free stalls 

on a rotating basis to local people to promote 
forthcoming community events and the work of local 
charities, subject to stall availability; 

 
Chapter 4 – Areas for further investigation 
 
11) the market working group explores the possibility of 

realigning and extending the layout of the market past 
its current location; 

 
12) the market working group explores the feasibility of 

introducing a covered food court area; 
 
13) the market working group explores the suitability of the 

design of the current market stalls and to consider 
whether the introduction of alternative stalls would 
improve the overall visual appearance of the stalls; 

 
14) the market working group ensures that any review of 

signage in the town centre includes adequate reference 
to the market; 

 
15) the market working group works with local bus 

operators to help further promote the market; 
 
Chapter 5 - Other 
 
16) the Council should engage with the Public Fundraising 

Regulatory Association with a view to reaching an 
agreement to regulate the working days and areas of 
charity street fundraisers in Redditch Town Centre; and 

 
17) Redditch Borough Council should join the National 

Association of British Market Authorities (NABMA) and 
participate in the Love Your Local Market 2013 event to 
publicise the changes and new opportunities that would 
have been introduced at the market. 

 
167. REDDITCH GROWTH AND LOCAL PLAN NO.4 PUBLIC 

CONSULTATION  
 
The Committee received a report on the Housing Growth and Local 
Plan Consultation further to that considered at the meeting on 12th 
February 2013. 

Page 86



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
 
Given the situation that had arisen through the draft Redditch 
Growth Consultation documents not being agreed at the previous 
meeting of the Council and the same documents receiving the 
approval of Councillors at Bromsgrove District Council, Officers 
detailed the potential difficulties that could face the Borough as a 
consequence. The Leader of Bromsgrove District Council had 
written to the Borough Council urging that it reconsider its earlier 
decision not to approve the draft Consultation documents and 
stressing that his Council was intending to proceed with public 
consultation from 1st April. The legal obligations on the Borough 
through the Duty to Cooperate were also highlighted and the 
consequences of failing to do so illustrated by reference to material 
in relation to Coventry City Council and the recent decision by the 
Planning Inspectorate to recommend withdrawal of its Core 
Strategy from further examination as a result of it being deemed to 
have failed to comply with the Duty to Cooperate. 
 
Officers also brought to Members attention a letter which had been 
received from Birmingham City Council regarding the Duty to 
Cooperate and sought approval of an additional recommendation to 
take account of this. Officers suggested that they be allowed to 
continue to make minor changes to Appendices 2 and 3 to the 
report should the documents be agreed for consultation. The 
Committee’s attention was also drawn to a typographical error 
which stated that the proposed consultation period on Redditch 
Growth should end on 13th May 2013 when it should, in fact, read 
15th May 2013. 
 
Members discussed the report at some length. It was suggested 
that the situation had not materially changed since the previous 
occasion on which this matter had been considered and, although it 
had been recommended for approval by the Committee, the 
consultation documents had not subsequently received the 
approval of Council. Officers were also asked whether Bromsgrove 
District Council had been requested to reconsider the inclusion of 
any additional sites within the consultation leaflet. Officers 
responded that they had no authority to request that Bromsgrove 
District Council consider any matters and it was again stressed that 
Bromsgrove had approved the documents for consultation as 
originally submitted. Officers did confirm that a number of sites to 
the north and west of Redditch had been presented to members at 
briefing session during the initial investigatory work on cross-
boundary growth but that Officers from both authorities had 
subsequently undertaken a thorough assessment of the potential 
sites and had identified two preferred sites from those originally 
considered. It was proposed by Officers that the consultation 
documents continue to be developed to make it clear to the public 

Page 87



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
that their comments would be considered on any of the possible 
development sites. 
 
In response to a suggestion that the consultation period be 
extended it was stressed that the Borough would be vulnerable to 
hostile development applications until a defendable Local Plan had 
been developed. Officers highlighted their willingness to meet with 
local residents to explain the documents further and to assist them 
in preparing responses to the consultation material. The process 
would conclude with a planning examination which would 
determine, in the light of all the responses submitted and the 
Consultation documents themselves, whether the proposals being 
put forward by the Borough were sound. 
 
It was made clear that, in order to have any influence on these 
Growth Options, then the residents needed to engage with the 
consultation process and sound reasons put forward as to why the 
housing growth should be located somewhere other than in the two 
preferred locations. It was also made clear that Officers from the 
two authorities had developed their preferred options based on 
evidential grounds over a considerable period of time. 
 
RECOMMENDED that 

 
1) the consultation document, Housing Growth 

Consultation (Appendix 1) and the supporting 
background evidence report (Appendix 2) and the 
accompanying Sustainability Appraisal (Appendix 3) are 
approved for public consultation by Redditch Borough 
Council and Bromsgrove District Council between 1st 
April 2013 and 15th May 2013; 

 
2)  the Draft Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 and the 

accompanying Sustainability Appraisal are approved for 
public consultation at a deferred date to align with the 
Housing Growth consultation which is between 1st April 
2013 and 13th May 2013; and 

 
3) authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and 

Regeneration, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Planning, Regeneration, Economic Development and 
Transport, to consider the recent letter received from 
Birmingham City Council regarding the Duty to 
Cooperate and acknowledge that the duty will also apply 
to Birmingham City Council and other neighbouring 
authorities in relation to the Redditch Growth and Local 
Plan No.4 Consultation. 

 
 

Page 88



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
168. GRANTS PROGRAMME 2013-14  

 
The Committee considered the recommendations of the Grants 
Assessment Panel in respect of grants to voluntary sector 
organisations for 2013/14. A total of 42 applications worth an 
aggregate of £313,864 had been received for an over-all budget of 
£245,000. 
 
Members noted that the scoring system appeared to be working 
effectively and were content to support the recommendations of the 
Panel. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
grants be awarded to voluntary sector organisations as 
detailed in section 3.6 of the report submitted. 
 

169. HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION ACT (HECA)  
 
The meeting received a report which sought approval for 
submission to the Department of Energy and Climate Change 
(DECC) of a report detailing progress thus far against obligations in 
relation to domestic home energy efficiency. This report to DECC 
also set out the Council’s intention to use the Green Deal and 
Energy Company Obligation (ECO) as its main delivery 
mechanisms for HECA aims. 
 
Members endorsed the Council’s ambition to contribute to a 
reduction in fuel poverty and carbon emissions. It was also noted 
that two options were currently being considered in respect of the 
Green Deal. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1) the report (Appendix 1) be approved for submission to 

DECC and the consequent requirement to publish this 
report on the Council’s website be noted; and 
 

2) the current position in relation to the Green Deal be 
noted. 

 
170. LOCAL WELFARE ASSISTANCE  

 
A report was considered which set out the operational 
arrangements proposed for the administration of Community Care 
Grants and Crisis Loans once responsibility for administering these 
loans passed to local authorities from 2013/14. 
 

Page 89



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
The new scheme was to be called the Essential Living Fund and, in 
a break with previous practice by the Department of Work and 
Pensions, it was proposed that applicants for loans for specific 
items be provided with those items rather than a cash equivalent 
wherever possible. By so doing it was hoped that the Council might 
meet the needs of applicants without the risk of money being used 
for other purposes and further, consequent, applications for loans 
being made. 
 
Members appreciated the need to keep the scheme relatively 
flexible and non-prescriptive at the outset until an assessment could 
be made of its effectiveness. It was noted that a further report would 
be brought to the Committee in due course should Officers identify 
a need to reduce this flexibility. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the proposal for operation of the Scheme set out at Appendix 1 
be approved. 
 

171. QUARTERLY BUDGET MONITORING - QUARTER 3 - OCTOBER 
TO DECEMBER 2012  
 
A report detailing the Council’s financial position at the end of the 
third quarter of the 2012/13 financial year was considered by the 
Committee. 
 
The key message to be taken from the report was that the majority 
of the savings which Officers had hoped to achieve during the 
course of the year had been identified and there was confidence 
that the remainder could be attained during the final quarter. Failure 
to achieve projected savings would result in an increased use of 
balances. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the current financial position on Revenue and Capital be noted, 
as detailed in the report. 
 

172. QUARTERLY CUSTOMER SERVICE MONITORING - QUARTER 
3 - OCTOBER TO DECEMBER 2012  
 
The latest customer service monitoring report was considered by 
Members. An overall reduction in complaints was noted, and this 
was largely attributed to a significant drop in complaints regarding 
housing and repairs and maintenance. An accompanying drop in 
the numbers of complaints dealt with in 15 days was linked to the 
reduction in relatively straightforward housing-related complaints. 
 

Page 90



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
Other matters that were brought to Members’ attention included the 
forthcoming introduction of a new call-handling system and a slow 
but steady rise in the numbers of payments made to the Council by 
electronic means. Those areas where customer complaints and 
suggestions had led to the revision of service delivery were also 
highlighted for the benefit of Members. 
 
The Committee welcomed the introduction of the new phone 
system but did query current methods for dealing with calls that 
were unanswered as a result of Officers dealing with an existing 
call. Officers explained that this issue was often the result of their 
colleagues not using the full range of features available on the 
phone system. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the update for the period 1st October 2012 – 31st December 
2012 be noted. 
 

173. QUARTERLY SICKNESS MONITORING - QUARTER 3 - 
OCTOBER TO DECEMBER 2012  
 
Members received an update on sickness absence performance for 
the third quarter of 2012/13. Officers explained that there had been 
a seasonal increase in short term absence over the winter period, 
which was to be expected, and a slight increase in long term 
absences. 
 
The Committee was reminded that the previously agreed changes 
in the Sickness Absence Policy were to come into effect from the 
beginning of 2013/14. In addition, weekly on-site clinics for 
occupational health had commenced and the appointment of a well-
being officer was imminent. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the data relating to the quarter be noted. 
 

174. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
Members received the minutes of a recent meeting of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 5th February 2013 be received and noted. 
 

Page 91



   

������������������������������������				
Committee 

 
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2013 

 
175. MINUTES / REFERRALS - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE, EXECUTIVE PANELS ETC.  
 
There were no minutes or referrals to consider under this item. 
 

176. ADVISORY PANELS - UPDATE REPORT  
 
The Committee received the most recent report on the activity of 
the Council’s Advisory Panels and similar bodies. It was noted that 
the Economic Advisory Panel had moved to an inclusive approach 
to its meetings with all Councillors invited to attend. 
 

177. ACTION MONITORING  
 
The Committee received the latest Action Monitoring report. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm 
and closed at 9.16 pm 

Page 92



�����
�

�

�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
	




��
�
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�

�

�
	
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
�




�

�

�

���

����

��������
����� 

!
"������

�
������	
���
	�
�����
��

����
���������
�

�

�	��

�
������	����
��	��������
	�����


��
� �������	���	�
����� �����������
 ����
����
�����

����������
���
	�����
��!

�����
�"
������#	�$

%��������"
��

�
�����&�

�
�'

!
(���


�����

��������
	���	��


����
��$
%��������"

��
�
�������


���

 �������

�
���
����	����"

�����������
����
������	���&���&�&����
�������
�
���

������������
��
���������
��
��������������&��
)

��	���
���


*����������
��$
%��������"

��
�
�����#	���	���		�
���
���

������	���	��������
�	�)
�� ��

����
�
�
���

����������������
���������
����
���
�

���
��	
����	����
�����+��
�����
����������
�������	��

����	���		����������	��������

������
��	�����������
�+����
�
����
����	��	������������	��
��

������

����&���


�	��	��
������%��
���������


����&��,
��

���	�����
���������
����
���
��


�����
	 ��������
����
���
��������


���	��
�������

������	�

��	��		��&�
-��
������

��	��� �����������
����%��
���������


������
��	
��

��
�	�����
��)
�� ��

����
�
�
�&�.

����
���

 �������	���
����	�

����	�����������	�����
������
����
�������
�������

���	���	����	
�����������������
��������&�
������

Page 93



���
� ��

�	�)

�� ��
����
�

�
������	����
��	��������

	�����

��
� �������	���	�
����� �����������
 �������
��!

�����
�"
������#	�$

%��������"
��

�
�����+���������

"
������+�����
�����

����������
���
	&��

�#�
"$�


"�%&%�
!
&'���"��

!
"&�(

�
%��

���"�)%*")$���
+���

�,%-�
�"& 

)��%!
���
"��

�
 
!
�%)�%!

� 
��%!

.
�"/0

"!
1
%� 
�"2�3�

�".
�
%!
.
�%!
��
4
"��

����
"�4

�*%!
.
��
3�&�5%!

.
&�%!

�"/�"&&��
3�67�2�����

��(
�
%��

���"�
�
��
"�(

%&"�&%.
!
%3%��!

���
�5%!

.
��".

��1
���
���
"��

�
 
!
�%)�&�8

 
1
.
"��3�

����
"�&"�5%�"��

��3 
!
��%�

!
���
�(
�
%��

���
"�1

"�%&%�
!
��")��"&9��

��
,%%-�

8
"�&%.

!
%3%��!

��%!
��"�4

&��
3�%�&�"33"����

!
���

4
4
 
!
%�%"&�)%5%!

.
��
��(

�
�*%!

.
�%!
���
"���"����

4
0
�%&%!

.
��(

�
��
��4

�
�"�(

��1
&�%!

���
"�:

�
��
 
.
�
9�

,%%%-�
%!
5�
)5"��!

$�0
��
0
�
&�)���

��"�&"���
�0
��
5%1

"����
�
 
!
�%)�&"�5%�"�,�

��
"����

�!
����"4

0
�
���$��"&&��%�

!
��
3�&"�5%�"��

3�!
�
��4

�
�"���

�!
�

;�4
�
!
��
&-<�

��

��)

�� ��
����
�

�
���	�
�
��
����������	�����������������

����
���
���

��
��/


��+�)

�����0

��
�1�0
2�
��+�3

������
+�!
45�56

/
�����

�4
�
����7��

�
,
���
�	�����

���
�	8��������
��"
������#	��

��	������
�
�
&�������
��&���&� �&�

-�������
�	
�����


 �������	���
����	�����
�������	�������	��������
���������
������������������
��
��
��
�������
����������
��
���
	�	����
	�

��		�������������
�������	����
�������
������	���&��"
���
������
��	�
�����������&��6

�����
������������

���

���������
��/
�
�����9��
�+�$

2�
�����	�

���:

��
���
����0

������	+��

���

��
��/


��+�)

�����0

��
�1�0
2�
��+�3

������
+�!
45�56

/
�����;�


��(����
���
���<

����
	�����
���������
&���&� �

�

��$

%��������"
��

�
�����#	��

������	�
�������

����
����������������

�� 	�
��=��
�����

��	�
���������	�
���
���
��

��/

��&���


���
������������
��
������+��%������


�������������
��������

������	���������	��		��&��-�������

�	
����
����������
��
������
���

����+�����	�
���	
��������
�� ��

��
��
��
:
��

���
����0
������	��

�
�
�������7�=��>?�7�+��%�(���>4�����


 ��	��������	�������

�
��
	���
����&��-������

���
�����
���2�����	+�:
��

���
����
0
������	�@

������	��
�������

�������
���	�����&�

�

�������"

��������
���	����
�����
�����
��"

������#	�"

����
�����,

������	&��,
������	����

�
�����
��=&����

&�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
	




��
�
�
�
�

�


:
�
�
�
=
��
�

"
����������!

����/

�������

9�
��������
��"
�������
����

���������/
����������"

��
�
������9�
���	
���A

��

�����	
���

"
����������B

�"


����

:
������9�
����
����

���������/
�����������

�
�����+�3
������
����+�$

�����
���:

�������
���+��

�������
�
�	�����

"
�����������


���,
�����

�
���������/

����������"
�����
���,


�
���
����

"
����������3

�����
�!
�
 ��

�
���������/

����������"
��

�
������0


�����A
�3

����
�����0
������	�

"
����������,


� �0

���

���
�
���������/

����������/
��	����

"
����������:

�������

�����

�
���������/

����������9��
��$
�������

����A
�/

�
��
�
"
����������9� ��0

���
��	�
�
���������/

����������9��	����A
��
����	�

�
"
����������,

��

���!
�
����

�
"
����������"


�����B

����

�

�

Page 94



�

�����
�



"�%&%�

!
�%!
�) 

1
%!
.
�

�
�
"��

"��%��%&���*"$�


"�%&%�

!
�



"�%&%�

!
��
�*"���



��"��

3�

"�%&%�

!
�



"��%)&��

3��
�
/"4

0
��

%!
3�
�4

��%�
!
�,%3�

�!
$-�



�
� 
4
"!
�&�& 

8
4
%��"1

���
�



"�%&%�

!
�

�*"��>�:

��*.
��
 
!
1
�

�
�0
"�&��

%&��

�
�
!
�����3�

���
�
4
4
"!
�&�

C
�
�������"

�	���
���

0
�������,

����������;�
C
�
�������;�@

����������
:
����

���������
�
"$+�'

��
�

$
%�����������,


�������
�

3
����������
��/

�
�����
"
�	���

���0
������	�

�

6
����)


��+�/
�
�����"

�	���
���

0
������	�

�
��(���7�=�>?�7��

�

C
�
�������!

������
,
����������;�C

�
�������;�
@
����������:

����
���������

�
"$+�'

��

$
%�����������,


�������
�

'
���&�

�
�
�D
��	���
	+�/

�
������
��
����


���3
�	�����	�

�
��(���7�=�>?�7���%����47�

�

B
�
��	��

����
�
�
������;

�?�
�
"$+�.

�	�
�

$
%�����������,


�������
�

'
���&�

�
:
�/

���%+�E

�����
���0
������

B
�
��	�"

�;�����
����
�
��(���7�=�>?�7���%�����7�

�

/
��

��$
������

"
��	���
�����6

����/
$
"
6
��

�
"$+�'

��
�

$
%�����������,


�������
�

3
����������
��/

�
�����
$
�������

���
��0
������	�

�

"
�F�
�+�"

���

���"



����
,

�
����

�
��(���7�=�>?�7���%���=���

�

C
�
�������0

�� ��		�
,
����������;�C

�
�������;�
@
����������:

����
���������

�
"$+�'

��
�

$
%�����������,


�������
�

'
���&�

�
,
�0
�
�����

��

Page 95



�

�?�
�



"�%&%�

!
�%!
�) 

1
%!
.
�

�
�
"��

"��%��%&���*"$�


"�%&%�

!
�



"�%&%�

!
��
�*"���



��"��

3�

"�%&%�

!
�



"��%)&��

3��
�
/"4

0
��

%!
3�
�4

��%�
!
�,%3�

�!
$-�



�
� 
4
"!
�&�& 

8
4
%��"1

���
�



"�%&%�

!
�

�*"��>�:

��*.
��
 
!
1
�

�
�0
"�&��

%&��

�
�
!
�����3�

���
�
4
4
"!
�&�

�
���

���
�3
�
��"

��
������

�
"$+�'

��
�

$
%��������

�
3
����������
��/

�
�����
$
�������

���
��0
������	�

�

0
�/
�������+�)


	���
,

�
���

����,

�
����

�
��(���7�=�>?�7���%���=�>�

�

/
��
�


��-�
�
���
���

6
���		��������,

���������
3
������;�)

����	���	
����
"
������"

��������/

�����

��
,

�������

�
"$+�'

��

$
%��������

�
'
���&�

�
���

/
��	����6

����
����	��
������

;�3
�����

�
�
"$+�'

��
�

$
%��������

�"
�������

�
'
���&�

�
9��

��
� ��+�/

�
�����/
��	����

�
��(���7�=�>?�7���%�����?�

�

�
��
�����

������
�
"$+�'

��
$
%��������

�
3
����������
��:

������"

����

$
%��������
���$

%��������
:
���������9��	���+�

$
�������

���
��A
�"
��

�
������

0
������	��

�

���

Page 96



Actions requested by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

Date Action 
Requested 

Action to be Taken Response 

 
5th February 
2013 

 
1 

 
 

 
Officers to provide further 
information about the living wage 
and the current position for staff 
with regard to payment of the living 
wage at a forthcoming meeting of 
the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

 
 
WILL BE COMPLETED AT THIS 
MEETING. 
 

 
5th February 
2013 

 
2 

 
 

 
Officers were asked to provide an 
estimate of the financial costs 
involved in supporting a Task 
Group exercise. 

 
Officers are in the process of 
investigating the financial costs 
involved in supporting a Task 
Group exercise.  This may take 
some time as the level of support 
that is required varies according 
to the subject of the review and 
the length of the exercise. 
 
TO BE COMPLETED. 
 

 
5th March 
2013 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
Officers were asked to circulate a 
list of services that have been 
going through transformation for 
Members’ consideration. 

 
Officers circulated this information 
for Members’ consideration by 
email on 20th March 2013 
 
COMPLETED. 

 
5th March 
2013 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
Members agreed to participate in 
transformation practical orientation 
sessions and / or to meet with 
relevant Officers to discuss the 
matter further. 

 
Officers circulated information 
about the practical orientation 
sessions by email on 20th March 
2013 
 
COMPLETED. 

 
5th March 
2013 

 
5 

 
 
 

 
When considering a report on the 
subject of the Council’s business 
centres Officers were asked to 
provide further information about 
how the operation costs compared 
to competitor organisations. 

 
Officers circulated information on 
this subject by email on 19th 
March 2013. 
 
COMPLETED. 

Agenda Item 9Page 97



  

 
5th March 
2013 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
Members requested that the 
following be added to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Annual Report for 
2012/13: 
 
• information about the 

Promoting Sporting 
Participation review; 

• a picture of the Increasing rates 
of recycling Task Group; 

• the membership details for 
previous review group’s for 
which the O&S Committee 
received a monitoring update 
report during the year; 

• commitment be stated to a 
more targeted approach to 
scrutiny, commitment to 
member development, a focus 
on forward planning and 
emphasis on performance 
scrutiny in the following year; 
and 

• senior officers be urged in the 
report to attend meeting of the 
Committee. 
 

 
The updates were made to the 
report as requested and included 
in the annual report that will have 
been presented to Council by the 
Chair of the Committee on 25th 
March 2013. 
 
COMPLETED. 

 

Page 98



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  2nd April 2013 
 
 
JOINT TASK GROUP – REVIEW PROPOSAL 
  
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Phil Mould, Corporate 

Management 
Portfolio Holder Consulted  No 
Relevant Head of Service for 
Overview and Scrutiny 

Claire Felton – Head of Legal, 
Equalities and Democratic Services 

Wards Affected All wards 
Ward Councillor Consulted Not applicable 
Non-Key Decision  

 
1. SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 

 
The report outlines a proposal received from Wychavon District Council 
to undertake a joint scrutiny review of Worcestershire Regulatory 
Services.  Members are invited to consider this proposal and to 
determine whether Redditch Borough Council should participate in this 
review. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that: 
 
1) Redditch Borough Council Scrutiny Members participate in 

the joint scrutiny of Worcestershire Regulatory Services; 
and 

 
2) the terms of reference for the proposed review of 

Worcestershire Regulatory Services, as attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report, be approved. 

 
3. KEY ISSUES 
 
 Background 
 
3.1 In April 2012 Wychavon District Council’s Scrutiny Committee 

established that there was a desire from both Members of that 
Committee and Wychavon District Council as a whole to conduct a 
scrutiny review of Worcestershire Regulatory Services.  
 

3.2 Interest was gauged informally with all the other Chairs of Overview 
and Scrutiny within Worcestershire.  Chairs from all of the shared 
service partner authorities, with the exception of Worcestershire County 
Council, showed interest in participating in the proposed joint venture. 

 

Agenda Item 10Page 99



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  2nd April 2013 
 
3.3 Wychavon District Council have produced draft terms of reference   

(attached at Appendix 1) relating to the joint scrutiny of Worcestershire 
Regulatory Services.  Subject to these being agreed, it is anticipated 
that the scrutiny exercise would commence in the 2013/14 municipal 
year. 

 
3.4 Any joint scrutiny would need to be conducted in line with the Joint 

Protocol (attached at Appendix 2), which was endorsed by the 
Committee in 2011.  In accordance with that protocol Bromsgrove 
District Council, as the host authority for Worcestershire Regulatory 
Services, would facilitate the joint scrutiny investigation.   
 

3.5 Members are asked to note that the Joint Task Group will be made up 
of one representative from each of the district Councils’ Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees.  There will also be one nominated substitute for 
each authority.  Either the main representative or the substitute 
representative for Redditch Borough Council will need to be the Chair 
or Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  In line with 
standard practice the nominations to these positions will be confirmed 
at the annual meeting of Council in May 2013. 

 
 Financial Implications    

 
3.6 There are no financial implications directly relating to this report. 

However, if the proposal is accepted, any implications would be 
considered as part of the subsequent investigation. 
 

 Legal Implications 
 

3.7 There are no legal implications directly relating to this report. However, 
if the proposal is accepted, any implications would be considered as 
part of the subsequent investigation. 

 
3.8 Paragraph 12.5 of the formal Shared Service Partnership agreement 

states that “Member Authorities will liaise about requests from their 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Audit Committees and shall 
use reasonable endeavours to agree joint scrutiny arrangements with a 
view to avoiding duplication of effort”. 

 
 Service/Operation Implications 
 
3.9 The Head of Regulatory Services is aware of the proposed scrutiny 

and timescale.   
 
3.10 The Council’s Democratic Services team, as a shared service with 

Bromsgrove District Council, will lead on arrangements and support for 
the exercise.  This may impact on our ability to support other scrutiny 

Page 100



REDDITCH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  2nd April 2013 
 

Task Groups which might run concurrently with this.  We will alert 
Members to this if such a situation arises. 

 
 Customer / Equalities and Diversity Implications  

 
3.11 There are no customer service, equalities or diversity implications to 

this report. 
 

4. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 

 A scrutiny of the shared service will help to increase understanding of 
how it works for Councillors and the public.  This contributes to being 
transparent about how public services are run and governed. 
 

5. APPENDICES 
 

 Appendix 1 – Overview and Scrutiny Proposal, Wychavon District 
Council. 

 Appendix 2 – Framework for Joint Overview and Scrutiny in 
Worcestershire 2011   

   
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
None 
 

7. KEY 
 
None 
 

AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Jess Bayley, (Democratic Services Officer) 
E Mail: jess.bayley@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Tel: 01527 881443 

Page 101



Page 102



 Appendix 1  
 

 

 
Joint Scr 

 
APPENDIX 1 

Joint Scrutiny of Worcestershire Regulatory Services 
 

Terms of Reference 
 
Objectives 
 
1. To review the final business case for the Shared Service (as agreed by the 

participating Councils) against current operation, including: 

− resilience in the model to cope with fluctuations in workload; 
− efficiencies achieved; 
− cash savings and how these have been used; 
− its level of fitness for purpose; 
− the impact of the model on service levels/quality. 

2. To compare the previous service levels of each participating Council 
compared with current levels and those outlined in the final business case.  

3. To establish the performance of the service to participating Councils prior 
to and since the establishment of the shared service. 

4. To review levels of customer satisfaction prior to and following 
establishment of the shared service and how feedback informs practice. 

5. To consider the governance arrangements between the shared service 
and the participating Councils to include how changes to the service 
requested by one or more Councils can be achieved. 

Membership 

6. The Team will be made up of one representative from each of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees from Bromsgrove, Malvern Hills, 
Redditch Borough, Wyre Forest, Worcester City and Wychavon District 
Councils. 

7. Each authority will also appoint a named substitute, who will be sent 
details for each meeting and may attend meetings as an observer to keep 
up to date with the exercise. 

8. That at least one of the appointed Member to the Team or their named 
substitute must comprise either the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the 
Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 

Page 103



 Appendix 1  
 

 

Roles 

9. Members of the Panel are expected to: 

− undertake appropriate reading and research, which may involve 
consultation, visits and evidence gathering between meetings; 

− having agreed a programme of meetings of the Team, to attend as 
many of them as possible; 

− to ask for support, training and development if/when they feel it is 
necessary; 

− to contribute fully to the drafting of any reports. 
 
10. Each member is responsible for reporting back to parent Overview & 

Scrutiny Committees as appropriate. 
 
11. Officer support will be provided by Bromsgrove District Council as the host 

authority, for meeting arrangements and scrutiny support, as well as 
liaison with officers from each authority to provide evidence and practical 
help (provision of meeting rooms etc) 

 
Arrangements for Meetings 
 
12. The Team will make its own arrangements for meetings. 
 
13. The meetings may be held in public or in private. In considering how it will 

meet, the Team will balance the desire for transparency and openness 
with making visitors feel welcome and comfortable, to encourage frank and 
open discussion. 

 
14. It will not normally be the case that full notes will be made of each 

meeting. In most cases a short “action list” will be sufficient for the Team’s 
use. 

 
 
 

Page 104



Appendix 2 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\9\AI00007916\jointworkingframework20110.doc 

FRAMEWORK FOR JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN 
WORCESTERSHIRE 

 
Principles Underlying Joint Working 
 
Any joint scrutiny process needs to ensure: 
 

a) Good quality scrutiny – which adds value and properly investigates issues 
of concern to participating authorities. 

b) Efficiency – avoiding duplication and bureaucracy. 
c) Confidence in the outcomes of the joint scrutiny exercise by each 

participating authority’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and clear 
communication of expectations from the outset. 

d) Clear working planning and co-ordination. 
e) A coherent approach to scrutiny for external partner organisations 
f) Clear arrangements for reporting and follow-up to ensure action on 

recommendations. 
g) Reporting arrangements should not create delay through over  complexity, 

and should not create scope for other bodies to block recommendations. 
h) Flexibility in how to carry out joint scrutiny. 
i) It does not undermine each authority's O&S Committee’s remit, or officer 

support available. 
 
Deciding to Scrutinise Jointly 
 
It is for each authority’s O&S Committee to decide if they wish to participate in a 
joint scrutiny but this needs to be done as efficiently and speedily as possible. 
 
To initiate a joint scrutiny proposal a scoping form should be completed and 
circulated which will then be subject to agreement of each authority's O&S 
Committee. 
 
The Worcestershire Scrutiny Officers’ Network, in consultation with their 
respective Chairmen should make proposals for joint scrutiny for considered by 
the scrutiny chairmen’s network (possibly in between meetings) and subsequent 
recommendation to individual overview and scrutiny committees. 
 
Carrying out Joint Scrutiny  
 
There are a number of ways that joint scrutiny can be carried out. 
 
There may be times when an individual authority wishes to co-opt members from 
other authorities onto a particular scrutiny. 
 
There may also be times when it is agreed by each O&S committee that one 
authority takes the lead in scrutinising an issue on behalf of all authorities. 
 
However, it is suggested that in Worcestershire joint scrutiny should usually be 
carried out by joint time-limited scrutiny task and finish groups, led by the 
authority from which the scrutiny originated. 
 
 

Page 105



Appendix 2 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\9\AI00007916\jointworkingframework20110.doc 

Agreeing Membership of Joint Scrutiny Task Group 
 
After O&S Committees agree to participate in a joint scrutiny they then nominate 
members. 
 
As the task group would not be an official council committee, political balance 
requirements do not apply. 
 
The number of Members participating in a joint scrutiny will depend on how many 
authorities are involved but if all Worcestershire authorities take part it is 
suggested that one member be appointed from each authority. 
 
Agreeing Chairmanship of a Joint Task Group 
 
Nominations for chairing the task group will be sought from all members of the 
task group.   
 
Where one authority is leading the scrutiny it may be appropriate for the 
Chairman to be appointed from that authority. 
 
Agreeing Terms of Reference/Scope of the Scrutiny 
 
Each participating authorities’ Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be asked 
to agree terms of reference for the scrutiny as per the scoping and proposal form. 
 
Conduct of the Scrutiny 
 
Meetings of the joint task group will be arranged by the supporting scrutiny 
officer(s). 
 
The task group should strive to conduct their business in a consensual, open, 
responsible and transparent way across the political divides and seek to avoid 
expressing views based purely on political considerations. 
 
Equal Participation 
 
It is important for all members to be equal participants in the process and for 
officer support to be available on an equal basis. 
 
Meeting Venues 
 
To be decided by the Review Panel as appropriate to the particular review. 
 
Approval of Report’s Recommendations 
 
The joint task group would agree their report and recommendations, normally by 
consensus.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee would then be asked to 
endorse the report, and could submit their own comments to their Executives. 
 
Time constraints for recommendations need to be fully considered at the scoping 
stage. 
 

Page 106



Appendix 2 
 

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\9\AI00007916\jointworkingframework20110.doc 

Publicising Outcomes from Joint Scrutiny/Sharing Findings 
 
Once the scrutiny report is agreed by the overview and Scrutiny Committees it 
should be circulated to Executive members, witnesses and any others involved, 
by the scrutiny officers supporting the scrutiny. 
 
It could also be put on the website of all the participating authorities. 
 
Resourcing and Supporting Joint Scrutiny 
 
It is intended that joint scrutiny will be supported within the existing resources 
available to all seven authorities for scrutiny. 
 
Scrutiny officer support for each joint scrutiny should be agreed at the outset.  
Whilst the authority leading the joint scrutiny would normally provide support for it, 
ways of sharing the workload should be explored at the scoping stage. 
 
Any expenses for members of a joint scrutiny should be paid by that member’s 
authority in line with that authority’s allowance scheme. 
 
Tracking the Outcomes of the Scrutiny 
 
The Review Panel will decide upon arrangements for tracking the implementation 
of recommendations. 
 
Individual O&S Committees may wish to adopt their own methods for joint 
scrutiny recommendation tracking. 
 
It is suggested that recommendation tracking for joint scrutinies should be part of 
the watching brief of the Joint Chairmen’s meeting. 
 
 

Page 107



Page 108



   
 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

  

 

2nd April 2013 
   

 

 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 
(Report of the Chief Executive) 

Date of  
Meeting 

Subject Matter Officer(s) Responsible 
for report 

 
ALL MEETINGS 

 
REGULAR ITEMS 

 
(CHIEF EXECUTIVE) 

  
Minutes of previous meeting 
 
Consideration of the Forward Plan 
 
Consideration of Executive Committee key 
decisions 
 
Call-ins (if any) 
 
Pre-scrutiny (if any) 
 
Consideration of Overview and Scrutiny 
Actions List 
 
Referrals from Council or Executive 
Committee, etc. (if any) 
 
Task Groups / Short, Sharp Review Groups 
- feedback 
 
Committee Work Programme 

 
Chief Executive 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 

  
REGULAR ITEMS 
 
Quarterly Performance Report 
 
Quarterly Budget Monitoring Report 
 
Annual Update on the Implementation of 
the Civil Parking Enforcement Scheme 
 
 

 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Relevant Lead 
Heads of Service 
 
 

Agenda Item 14Page 109



   
 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

  

 

2nd April 2013 
   

 

 

  
REGULAR ITEMS 
 
Update on fly tipping and progress with the 
Worth It campaign 
 
Update on the work of the Crime and 
Disorder Scrutiny Panel. 
 
Updates on the work of the Worcestershire 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 
Bi-Annual Recommendation Tracker Reports 
– Scrutiny Committee  
 
Bi-Annual Monitoring Report – Redditch 
Sustainable Community Strategy 
 

 
 
 
Relevant Lead 
Head(s) of Service 
 
Chair of the Crime and 
Disorder Scrutiny Panel 
 
Redditch Borough Council 
representative on the Health 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Relevant Lead 
Head(s) of Service 
 
Relevant Lead 
Head(s) of Service 
 
 

 
OTHER ITEMS 
- DATE FIXED 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
2nd April  
2013 

 
Access for Disabled People Task Group – 
Monitoring Update Report 

 
Relevant Lead 
Heads of Service 
 

 
2nd April  
2013 

 
Arts and Culture Centre Task Group - Final 
Report 

 
Councillor Hopkins 

 
2nd April  
2013 

 
Living Wage - Discussion 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

 
2nd April  
2013 

 
West Midlands Regional Scrutiny Network – 
Update Report 

 
Councillor Witherspoon 

Page 110



   
 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

  

 

2nd April 2013 
   

 

 

 
2nd April  
2013 

 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services – Joint 
Scrutiny Review Scoping Document 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

 
4th June  
2013 

 
Bi-Annual Recommendation Tracker Reports 
– Scrutiny Committee  
 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

 
2nd July  
2013 

 
Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) Biannual 
Monitoring Update Report 

 
Relevant Lead 
Director 
 

 
2nd July  
2013 

 
Youth Services Provision Task Group – 
Monitoring Update Report 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

 
13th August 
2013 

 
Anti-Social Behaviour Task and Finish Group 
- Monitoring Update Report 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

 
OTHER ITEMS 
– DATE NOT 
FIXED 

  

  
Equalities and Diversity – Submission of a 
Scoping Document 

 
Councillor Fry 

  
Housing Allocations Policy Review – Pre-
Scrutiny 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

  
Regeneration in the Town -  Submission of a 
Scoping Document 

 
Councillor Bush 

  
Shopmobility Ramp Cover – Outcomes of 
the Review 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

Page 111



   
 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

  

 

2nd April 2013 
   

 

 

 

  
Tree Maintenance – Submission of a 
Scoping Document 

 
Councillor Fisher 

  
Vacant Redditch Borough Council Properties 
– Update Report 

 
Relevant Lead 
Head of Service 
 

Page 112


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Systems Thinking  Overview and Scrutiny 5 March 13  FINAL [Compatibility Mode]

	4 Arts and Culture Centre Task Group - Final Report
	V4

	8 Executive Committee Minutes and Scrutiny of the Forward Plan
	Exec Work Programme March - June 2013

	9 Actions List
	10 Task Group Reviews - Draft Scoping Documents
	WRS ToR - V3
	joint working framework 2011

	14 Work Programme

